

PAPER • OPEN ACCESS

Primordial black holes and stochastic inflation beyond slow roll. Part I. Noise matrix elements

To cite this article: Swagat S. Mishra et al JCAP09(2023)005

View the article online for updates and enhancements.

You may also like

- <u>On primordial black holes and secondary</u> gravitational waves generated from inflation with solo/multi-bumpy potential Ruifeng Zheng, , Jiaming Shi et al.
- <u>A NEW PROBE OF DARK MATTER AND</u> <u>HIGH-ENERGY UNIVERSE USING</u> <u>MICROLENSING</u> Massimo Ricotti and Andrew Gould
- Exploring the High-redshift PBH-CDM Universe: Early Black Hole Seeding, the First Stars and Cosmic Radiation Backgrounds Nico Cappelluti, Günther Hasinger and Priyamvada Natarajan

This content was downloaded from IP address 109.158.109.9 on 13/09/2023 at 10:22

ournal of Cosmology and Astroparticle Physics

Primordial black holes and stochastic inflation beyond slow roll. Part I. Noise matrix elements

Swagat S. Mishra^(D), Edmund J. Copeland^(D) and Anne M. Green^(D)

School of Physics and Astronomy, University of Nottingham, Nottingham, NG7 2RD, U.K.

 $\label{eq:constraint} E-mail: swagat.mishra@nottingham.ac.uk, edmund.copeland@nottingham.ac.uk, anne.green@nottingham.ac.uk$

Received April 5, 2023 Revised July 12, 2023 Accepted August 14, 2023 Published September 4, 2023

Abstract. Primordial Black Holes (PBHs) may form in the early Universe, from the gravitational collapse of large density perturbations, generated by large quantum fluctuations during inflation. Since PBHs form from rare over-densities, their abundance is sensitive to the tail of the primordial probability distribution function (PDF) of the perturbations. It is therefore important to calculate the full PDF of the perturbations, which can be done non-perturbatively using the 'stochastic inflation' framework. In single field inflation models generating large enough perturbations to produce an interesting abundance of PBHs requires violation of slow roll. It is therefore necessary to extend the stochastic inflation formalism beyond slow roll. A crucial ingredient for this are the stochastic noise matrix elements of the inflaton potential. We carry out analytical and numerical calculations of these matrix elements for a potential with a feature which violates slow roll and produces large, potentially PBH generating, perturbations. We find that the transition to an ultra slow-roll phase results in the momentum induced noise terms becoming larger than the field noise whilst each of them falls exponentially for a few e-folds. The noise terms then start rising with their original order restored, before approaching constant values which depend on the nature of the slow roll parameters in the post transition epoch. This will significantly impact the quantum diffusion of the coarse-grained inflaton field, and hence the PDF of the perturbations and the PBH mass fraction.

Keywords: inflation, primordial black holes, dark matter theory

ArXiv ePrint: 2303.17375



Contents

| 1 | Introduction | 1 |
|--------------|--|------------|
| 2 | Inflationary dynamics beyond slow roll | 4 |
| 3 | Quantum dynamics: stochastic inflation formalism | 7 |
| | 3.1 Langevin equation | 9 |
| | 3.2 Adjoint Fokker-Planck equation and first-passage time analysis | 10 |
| 4 | Noise matrix elements in stochastic inflation | 13 |
| | 4.1 Featureless potentials | 15 |
| | 4.2 Potentials with a slow-roll violating feature | 18 |
| | 4.2.1 Numerical analysis | 20 |
| | 4.2.2 Analytical treatment for instantaneous transitions | 22 |
| 5 | Discussion | 2 8 |
| 6 | Conclusions | 30 |
| \mathbf{A} | Mukhanov-Sasaki equation in spatially flat gauge | 32 |
| в | Analytical solution of the Mukhanov-Sasaki equation | 32 |
| | B.1 In terms of Hankel functions | 33 |
| | B.2 In terms of Bessel functions | 34 |
| С | Super-Hubble expansion of the noise matrix elements | 35 |
| D | Functional form of z''/z during sharp transitions | 35 |
| | D.1 Single instantaneous transition | 36 |
| | D.2 Two successive instantaneous transitions | 36 |
| | D.3 Generalising to multiple instantaneous transitions | 36 |
| \mathbf{E} | Noise matrix elements for two successive instantaneous transitions | 37 |
| | E.1 Pure dS limit | 37 |
| | E.2 $\nu_1 \rightarrow \nu_2 \rightarrow \nu_3$ | 38 |

1 Introduction

A multitude of cosmological and astrophysical observations indicate that most of the matter in the Universe is non-baryonic cold dark matter [1–3]. Primordial black holes (PBHs), black holes that might have been formed from over-densities in the early Universe [4–9], are a potential dark matter candidate [5, 10–15]. There has been a surge of interest in PBHs in recent years, both their formation and observational probes, following the detection of gravitational waves from binary black hole mergers [16–19]. 'Cosmic inflation' (a period of accelerated expansion) has emerged as the leading scenario for the very early Universe, prior to the commencement of the radiation-dominated hot Big Bang [20–25]. A period of at least 60–70 e-folds of inflation generates natural initial conditions [26–31]. Furthermore quantum fluctuations of the inflaton field can generate the density perturbations from which structure forms. Observations of the anisotropies in the Cosmic Microwave Background (CMB) radiation [32, 33] provide strong evidence that structure formation on cosmological scales is seeded by almost scale-invariant, nearly Gaussian, adiabatic initial density fluctuations, consistent with the predictions of the simplest single field slow-roll inflation scenario [25, 34].

CMB observations [35, 36] are consistent with the inflaton field, ϕ , rolling slowly down an asymptotically flat potential $V(\phi)$ during the epoch when cosmological scales exit the Hubble radius, 50–60 e-foldings before the end of inflation. However the scales probed by CMB and large scale structure (LSS) observations correspond to only 7–8 e-folds of inflation, and hence a relatively small region of the inflaton potential. On smaller scales, deviations from slow roll may lead to interesting changes in the primordial perturbations. In particular, if the scalar perturbations are sufficiently large on small scales, then PBHs may form when these modes reenter the Hubble radius during the post-inflationary epoch. PBHs are therefore a powerful probe of the inflaton potential over the full range of field values. Large, PBH forming, fluctuations can be generated by a feature in the inflationary potential, such as a flat inflection point (see figure 1). Such a feature can substantially slow down the already slowly rolling inflaton field, causing the inflaton to enter into an ultra slow-roll (USR) phase, which leads to an enhancement of the power spectrum, \mathcal{P}_{ζ} , of the primordial curvature perturbation, ζ .

There are several subtleties in calculating the abundance of PBHs formed from inflation models with a feature in the potential. Firstly, the sharp drop in the classical drift speed of the inflaton means that the effects of stochastic quantum diffusion on its motion become non-negligible, and potentially even dominant. Even more importantly, since PBHs form from the rare extreme peaks of curvature fluctuations¹ their mass fraction at formation, β_{PBH} , is sensitive to the tail of the probability distribution function (PDF) $P[\zeta]$ of the primordial fluctuations. Consequently, perturbative computations using the power-spectrum may lead to an inaccurate estimation of the PBH mass fraction. Hence the calculation of the full primordial PDF, which can be done non-perturbatively using the '*Stochastic Inflation*' (SI) framework [28, 42–48], is extremely important (see refs. [37, 38, 49–55]).

There has been a profusion of work on SI in the recent literature in the context of PBH formation [56–74], and it has been shown that SI generically predicts a (highly non-Gaussian) exponential tail in the PDF [56, 59]. However, since PBH formation usually requires slow-roll violation, it is important to develop the SI formalism beyond slow-roll [57, 60–62, 66]. In this context, the validity of various assumptions of the SI formalism have been scrutinised [61, 67, 68].

The stochastic inflation formalism is an effective treatment of the dynamics of the long-wavelength (IR) part of the inflaton field coarse-grained on scales much greater than the Hubble radius i.e. $k \leq \sigma \, aH$, with the constant $\sigma \ll 1$. In this framework, the evolution of the coarse-grained inflaton field is governed by two first-order non-linear classical stochastic differential equations (Langevin equations) which receive constant quantum kicks from the small scale UV modes that are exiting the Hubble radius due to the accelerated expansion

¹Note that while we will be working with the PDF of curvature fluctuations $P[\zeta]$, the criterion for PBH formation is best specified in terms of the density contrast, δ . Hence, an accurate computation of the PBH abundance requires the multivariate joint probabilities of the curvature perturbations [37–41].



Figure 1. A schematic illustration of a plateau potential (solid green line). The 'CMB Window' represents field values corresponding to cosmological scales $k \in [0.0005, 0.5] \text{ Mpc}^{-1}$ that are probed by CMB observations. The blue star represents the CMB pivot scale $k_* = 0.05 \text{ Mpc}^{-1}$. The potential has a flat inflection-point like segment (highlighted with pink shading) which results in ultra slow-roll (USR) inflation. After the first slow-roll phase (SR-I) near the CMB Window, the inflaton enters into an USR phase. During this transient phase of USR, the second slow-roll condition (see eq. (2.7)) is violated, specifically $\eta_H \simeq +3$. This leads to an enhancement in the primordial perturbations on small scales. Later, the inflaton emerges from the USR into another slow-roll phase (SR-II) before inflation ends at ϕ_{end} .

during inflation. Hence the small-scale fluctuations constitute classical stochastic noise terms in the Langevin equations denoted by $\Sigma_{\phi\phi}$, $\Sigma_{\pi\pi}$, and $\Sigma_{\phi\pi}$ corresponding to the inflaton field noise, momentum noise, and the cross-noise terms (defined in eq. (3.15)). The SI formalism is generally combined with the classical δN formalism [28, 75–79] in order to compute cosmological correlators in this framework. This leads to the emergence of the stochastic δN formalism² [42, 46–48, 56].

The PDF $P[\zeta]$ of the primordial curvature perturbation can then be determined by using the techniques of first-passage time analysis for the stochastic distribution of the number of e-folds \mathcal{N} with fixed boundary conditions on the coarse-grained inflaton field. A convenient analytic approach to obtain the distribution of first-passage e-folds (and hence the PDF $P[\zeta]$) is to solve the corresponding Fokker-Planck equation (FPE) with the same boundary conditions [56, 59, 69]. In the analysis of stochastic dynamics, the noise terms in the FPE are assumed [48, 56, 59, 69] to be of de Sitter-type,³ i.e. $\Sigma_{\pi\pi}, \Sigma_{\phi\pi} \simeq 0$, and the field noise, $\Sigma_{\phi\phi} = (H/(2\pi))^2$, is constant (where H is the Hubble expansion rate during the de-Sitter type phase). However, in the context of PBH formation, since slow roll is usually violated, it is important to compute the stochastic noise matrix elements more accurately, otherwise the determination of the PDF becomes inaccurate, which in turn leads to an imprecise estimation of the PBH mass fraction β_{PBH} .

²Note that $N \propto \ln(a)$, the number of e-folds during inflation, is a deterministic variable, while \mathcal{N} is a stochastic variable as defined in section 3.1.

³See ref. [80] for an analysis of slow-roll noise terms beyond the de Sitter approximations.

Our aim is to develop analytical and semi-analytical techniques to estimate the full PDF $P[\zeta]$ using the stochastic inflation formalism beyond slow-roll. In the present paper, we carry out a thorough analytical and numerical computation of the stochastic noise-matrix elements accurately beyond the slow-roll approximations. In a forthcoming paper [81] we determine the PDF $P[\zeta]$ by solving the Fokker-Planck equation beyond slow-roll with appropriate noise matrix elements and discuss the implications for estimating the mass fraction of PBHs.

In what follows, we begin with a brief introduction to the classical inflationary dynamics in section 2, with particular focus on the ultra slow-roll dynamics across a flat segment in the inflaton potential. In section 3, we discuss the quantum dynamics in the stochastic inflation framework. We introduce the Langevin equation in section 3.1 and emphasise the importance of the noise matrix elements in the adjoint Fokker-Planck equation in section 3.2. Section 4 is dedicated to the computation of the noise matrix elements which is the primary focus of this work. We numerically compute the noise matrix elements for a slow-roll potential as well as a potential with a slow-roll violating feature in section 4.2.1 before proceeding to carry out a thorough analytical treatment in section 4.2.2 for instantaneous transitions between different phases during inflation. We discuss the potential implications of our results for the computation of the PBH mass fraction and spell out a number of complexities associated with the computation in section 5 before concluding with a summary of our main results in section 6. Appendix A provides a derivation of the Mukhanov-Sasaki equation in spatially flat gauge. Appendix B deals with the analytical solutions of the Mukhanov-Sasaki equation in the absence of any transition, while appendix C provides analytical expressions for the noise matrix elements in the super-Hubble limit. Appendices D and E are dedicated to the dynamics during instantaneous transitions.

We work in natural units with $c = \hbar = 1$ and define the reduced Planck mass to be $m_{\rm p} \equiv 1/\sqrt{8\pi G} = 2.43 \times 10^{18}$ GeV. We assume the background Universe to be described by a spatially flat Friedmann-Lemaitre-Robertson-Walker (FLRW) metric with signature (-, +, +, +). An overdot ^(.) denotes derivative with respect to cosmic time t, while an overdash ^(') denotes derivative with respect to the conformal time τ .

2 Inflationary dynamics beyond slow roll

We focus on the inflationary scenario of a single canonical scalar field ϕ with a self-interaction potential $V(\phi)$ which is minimally coupled to gravity. The system is described by the action

$$S[g_{\mu\nu},\phi] = \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} \left[\frac{m_p^2}{2} R - \frac{1}{2} \partial_\mu \phi \,\partial_\nu \phi \,g^{\mu\nu} - V(\phi) \right], \qquad (2.1)$$

where R is the Ricci scalar and $g_{\mu\nu}$ is the metric tensor. Specializing to the spatially flat FLRW background metric

$$ds^{2} = -dt^{2} + a^{2}(t) \left[dx^{2} + dy^{2} + dz^{2} \right], \qquad (2.2)$$

the evolution equations for the scale factor, a(t), and inflaton, $\phi(t)$, are

$$H^{2} \equiv \frac{1}{3m_{p}^{2}} \rho_{\phi} = \frac{1}{3m_{p}^{2}} \left[\frac{1}{2} \dot{\phi}^{2} + V(\phi) \right], \qquad (2.3)$$

$$\dot{H} \equiv \frac{\ddot{a}}{a} - H^2 = -\frac{1}{2m_p^2} \dot{\phi}^2 \,, \tag{2.4}$$

$$\ddot{\phi} + 3H\dot{\phi} + V_{,\phi}(\phi) = 0, \qquad (2.5)$$

where $H \equiv \dot{a}/a$ and $V_{,\phi} \equiv dV/d\phi$.

The slow-roll regime of inflation is usually characterised by the first two kinematic Hubble slow-roll parameters ϵ_H and η_H , defined by

$$\epsilon_H = -\frac{\dot{H}}{H^2} = \frac{1}{2m_n^2} \frac{\dot{\phi}^2}{H^2}, \qquad (2.6)$$

$$\eta_H = -\frac{\ddot{\phi}}{H\dot{\phi}} = \epsilon_H - \frac{1}{2\epsilon_H} \frac{\mathrm{d}\epsilon_H}{\mathrm{d}N} \,, \tag{2.7}$$

where $N = \ln(a/a_i)$ is the number of e-folds of expansion during inflation with a_i the initial scale factor at some early epoch during inflation before the Hubble-exit of CMB scale fluctuations. The slow-roll conditions correspond to

$$\epsilon_H, \ \eta_H \ll 1 \,. \tag{2.8}$$

It follows from the definition of the Hubble parameter, H, and ϵ_H in eq. (2.6), that the condition for the Universe to accelerate, $\ddot{a} > 0$, is $\epsilon_H < 1$. Before proceeding further, we remind the reader of the distinction between the *quasi-de Sitter* (qdS) and *slow-roll* (SR) approximations.

- Quasi-de Sitter inflation corresponds to the condition $\epsilon_H \ll 1$.
- Slow-roll inflation corresponds to both ϵ_H , $\eta_H \ll 1$.

Hence, one can deviate from the slow-roll regime by having $|\eta_H| \ge 1$ while still maintaining the qdS expansion by keeping $\epsilon_H \ll 1$, which is exactly what happens during ultra slow-roll (USR) inflation. This distinction will be important for the rest of this paper. Under either of the aforementioned assumptions, the conformal time, τ , is given by

$$-\tau \simeq \frac{1}{aH} \,. \tag{2.9}$$

As discussed in section 1, in order to facilitate PBH formation, we need to significantly amplify the scalar power at small-scales. This can be achieved with a feature in the inflaton potential, such as an inflection point-like feature (as shown in figure 1) for which $V_{,\phi} \ll 3H\dot{\phi}$. The following criteria need to be satisfied for an inflationary potential to be compatible with observations on cosmological scales [35] while also generating perturbations on smaller scales that are large enough to form an interesting abundance of PBHs:

• At the CMB pivot scale, $k_* = (aH)_* = 0.05 \text{ Mpc}^{-1}$, the amplitude of the scalar power spectrum is

$$\mathcal{P}_{\zeta}(k_*) = 2.1 \times 10^{-9} \,, \tag{2.10}$$

with the scalar spectral index $n_{\scriptscriptstyle S}$ and tensor-to-scalar ratio r satisfying

$$n_s(k_*) \in [0.957, 0.975], \quad r(k_*) \le 0.036 \text{ at } 95\% \text{ C.L.}$$
 (2.11)

A feature in V(φ) on a smaller scale k ≫ k_{*} (closer to the end of inflation N_e < N_{*}) to enhance the primordial scalar power spectrum by a factor of roughly 10⁷ with respect to its value at the CMB pivot scale. Here N_e is the number of e-folds before the end of inflation and N_{*} is the value of N_e when the CMB pivot scale made its Hubble-exit. Typically N_{*} ∈ [50, 60] depending on the reheating history of the Universe (see e.g. ref. [82]). Throughout this work we take N_{*} = 60.

• The potential steepens, so that inflation ends. Reheating (and the transition to the subsequent radiation dominated epoch) then occurs as the field oscillates around a minimum in the potential.

Given that PBH formation requires the enhancement of the inflationary power spectrum by a factor of 10⁷ within less than 40 e-folds of expansion (see e.g. ref. [83]), the quantity $\Delta \ln \epsilon_H / \Delta N$, and hence $|\eta_H|$, must grow to become of order unity, thereby violating the second slow-roll condition in eq. (2.8). In the particular case of a flat plateau region in the potential at intermediate field values, the inflaton enters a transient period of ultra slow-roll (USR) (see refs. [56, 63, 69, 84, 85]). Since $V_{,\phi} = 0$, from the equation of motion eq. (2.5), $\ddot{\phi} + 3H\dot{\phi} = 0 \Rightarrow -\ddot{\phi}/(H\dot{\phi}) = +3$, leading to

$$\eta_H = +3 \qquad (\text{during USR}). \tag{2.12}$$

As a consequence, the inflaton speed drops exponentially with the number of e-folds during this USR phase:

$$\dot{\phi} = \dot{\phi}_{\rm en} \, e^{-3 \, H \, (t - t_{\rm en})} \propto e^{-3 \, N} \,,$$
(2.13)

where ϕ_{en} is the entry velocity to the USR phase at time t_{en} .

Since USR is a transient non-attractor phase, the inflaton dynamics during this phase are sensitive to the initial conditions, in particular to the speed $\dot{\phi}_{\rm en}$ with which the inflaton enters the plateau. In this context, the inflaton potential exhibits three important regimes, namely, the slow-roll SR-I phase for $\phi > \phi_{\rm en}$ around the CMB scale, the USR phase at some intermediate field values $\phi_{\rm ex} \leq \phi \leq \phi_{\rm en}$, succeeded by the final SR-II phase for $\phi < \phi_{\rm ex}$ before the end of inflation at $\phi = \phi_{\rm end}$. Figure 2 schematically illustrates the three regimes. The flat regime (flat quantum well)⁴ is characterised by its width $\Delta \phi_{\rm well} = \phi_{\rm en} - \phi_{\rm ex}$, and height, $V_{\rm well}$. During this regime

$$\dot{\phi} = \dot{\phi}_{\rm en} - 3H(\phi - \phi_{\rm en}). \qquad (2.14)$$

The total number of e-folds of expansion during the USR period up to ϕ , where $\phi_{ex} \leq \phi \leq \phi_{en}$ is given by

$$N_{\rm USR}(\phi) = \frac{1}{3} \log\left(\frac{\pi_{\rm en}}{\pi}\right) = \frac{1}{3} \log\left(\frac{\pi_{\rm en}}{\pi_{\rm en} - 3(\phi - \phi_{\rm en})}\right),\tag{2.15}$$

where

$$\pi = \frac{\mathrm{d}\phi}{\mathrm{d}N} = \frac{\dot{\phi}}{H} \,. \tag{2.16}$$

In order to amplify the perturbations sufficiently to generate an interesting abundance of PBHs, the USR phase typically has to last for around 2–3 e-folds (see refs. [86, 87]). The above expression for $N_{\text{USR}}(\phi)$ can be used in the 'non-linear classical δN formalism' to determine the PDF of primordial fluctuations [51].

From the above expressions, it is clear that the dynamics of inflation during USR is sensitive to the initial conditions $\{\phi_{en}, \pi_{en}\}$. Let us define the critical entry velocity $\dot{\phi}_{cr}$ to be the speed at which the inflaton must enter the flat quantum well in order to come to a halt at ϕ_{ex} . From eqs. (2.14) and (2.16) it follows that

$$\phi_{\rm cr} = -3 H \Delta \phi_{\rm well} \,, \quad \pi_{\rm cr} = -3 \Delta \phi_{\rm well} \,. \tag{2.17}$$

⁴Note that we refer to the flat USR regime as the 'flat quantum well' because the inflaton dynamics are usually dominated by stochastic quantum diffusion, as discussed in the subsequent sections.



Figure 2. A zoomed-in version of figure 1 in order to schematically illustrate the intermediate flat quantum well feature (highlighted with pink shading) in the inflaton potential. The height and width of the flat segment are denoted by V_{well} and $\Delta \phi_{well}$ respectively. After exiting the first slow-roll phase (SR-I) near the CMB window, the inflaton enters the flat region at $\phi = \phi_{en}$ at intermediate field values. During this USR phase, the effects of quantum diffusion might become significant and hence one should use the stochastic inflation formalism to compute the primordial PDF of ζ . Later, the inflaton emerges from the USR phase to another slow-roll phase (SR-II) at $\phi = \phi_{ex}$, before the end of inflation.

If $\dot{\phi}_{\rm en} > \dot{\phi}_{\rm cr}$, then the classical speed of the inflaton is large enough to drive it all the way across the quantum well, while for $\dot{\phi}_{\rm en} < \dot{\phi}_{\rm cr}$, the inflaton comes to a halt at some intermediate point $\phi \in (\phi_{\rm ex}, \phi_{\rm en})$. Another important constraint comes from requiring inflation to continue, $\epsilon_H < 1$, hence from eq. (2.6) we get

$$0 \le \dot{\phi}_{\rm en} < \sqrt{2} H m_p \,. \tag{2.18}$$

In this section, we have discussed the classical dynamics of the inflaton field beyond slow roll, with the specific example of ultra slow-roll inflation across a flat potential well. We now move on to describe the large-scale quantum dynamics of the inflaton field which is coarse-grained over super-Hubble scales, using the stochastic inflation formalism. This will enable us to study the PDF of the primordial fluctuations generated by the quantum diffusion of the inflaton.

3 Quantum dynamics: stochastic inflation formalism

Stochastic inflation is an effective long wavelength IR treatment of inflation in which the inflaton field is coarse-grained over super-Hubble scales $k \leq \sigma aH$, with the constant $\sigma \ll 1$. On the other hand, the Hubble-exiting smaller scale UV modes are constantly converted into IR modes due to the accelerated expansion during inflation. Hence the coarse-grained inflaton field follows a Langevin-type stochastic differential equation featuring classical stochastic noise terms sourced by the smaller scale UV modes, on top of the classical drift terms sourced by the gradient of the self-interaction potential $V_{,\phi}(\phi)$.

We start with the Hamiltonian equations [80] of the system, eq. (2.1), for Heisenberg operators of the inflaton $\hat{\phi}$ and its momentum $\hat{\pi}_{\phi}$

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\hat{\phi}}{\mathrm{d}N} = \hat{\pi}_{\phi} \,, \tag{3.1}$$

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\hat{\pi}_{\phi}}{\mathrm{d}N} = -(3 - \epsilon_H)\hat{\pi}_{\phi} - \frac{V_{,\phi}}{H^2}, \qquad (3.2)$$

where we choose the number of e-folds N as our time evolution variable for $\phi(N, \vec{x})$ and $\pi_{\phi}(N, \vec{x})$ following refs. [48, 56].

We split the inflaton $\hat{\phi}(N, \vec{x})$ and its conjugate momentum $\hat{\pi}_{\phi}(N, \vec{x})$ into the corresponding IR { $\hat{\Phi}, \hat{\Pi}$ } and UV { $\hat{\varphi}, \hat{\pi}$ } parts:

$$\hat{\phi} = \hat{\Phi} + \hat{\varphi} , \quad \hat{\pi}_{\phi} = \hat{\Pi} + \hat{\pi} , \qquad (3.3)$$

where the UV fields are defined as

$$\hat{\varphi}(N,\vec{x}) = \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{3}\vec{k}}{(2\pi)^{\frac{3}{2}}} W\left(\frac{k}{\sigma aH}\right) \left[\phi_{k}(N)\,\hat{a}_{\vec{k}}\,e^{-i\vec{k}.\vec{x}} + \phi_{k}^{*}(N)\,\hat{a}_{\vec{k}}^{\dagger}\,e^{i\vec{k}.\vec{x}}\right],\tag{3.4}$$

$$\hat{\pi}(N,\vec{x}) = \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{3}\vec{k}}{(2\pi)^{\frac{3}{2}}} W\left(\frac{k}{\sigma aH}\right) \left[\pi_{k}(N)\,\hat{a}_{\vec{k}}\,e^{-i\vec{k}.\vec{x}} + \pi_{k}^{*}(N)\,\hat{a}_{\vec{k}}^{\dagger}\,e^{i\vec{k}.\vec{x}}\right].$$
(3.5)

Here $W(k/\sigma aH)$ is the 'window function' that selects out modes with $k > \sigma aH$. This coarse-graining guarantees that the IR fields $\{\hat{\Phi}, \hat{\Pi}\}$ are composed of modes of super-Hubble wavelengths and hence can be treated as classical (stochastic) variables. Substituting the expressions for the UV fields from eqs. (3.4) and (3.5) into eqs. (3.1) and (3.2), the equations for the coarse-grained fields are [69]

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\hat{\Phi}}{\mathrm{d}N} = \hat{\Pi} + \hat{\xi}_{\phi}(N) \,, \tag{3.6}$$

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\hat{\Pi}}{\mathrm{d}N} = -(3 - \epsilon_H)\hat{\Pi} - \frac{V_{,\phi}(\hat{\Phi})}{H^2} + \hat{\xi}_{\pi}(N), \qquad (3.7)$$

where the field and momentum noise operators $\hat{\xi}_{\phi}(N)$ and $\hat{\xi}_{\pi}(N)$ are given by

$$\hat{\xi}_{\phi}(N) = -\int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{3}\vec{k}}{(2\pi)^{\frac{3}{2}}} \frac{d}{\mathrm{d}N} W\left(\frac{k}{\sigma aH}\right) \left[\phi_{k}(N)\,\hat{a}_{\vec{k}}\,e^{-i\vec{k}.\vec{x}} + \phi_{k}^{*}(N)\,\hat{a}_{\vec{k}}^{\dagger}\,e^{i\vec{k}.\vec{x}}\right],\tag{3.8}$$

$$\hat{\xi}_{\pi}(N) = -\int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{3}\vec{k}}{(2\pi)^{\frac{3}{2}}} \frac{d}{\mathrm{d}N} W\left(\frac{k}{\sigma aH}\right) \left[\pi_{k}(N)\,\hat{a}_{\vec{k}}\,e^{-i\vec{k}.\vec{x}} + \pi_{k}^{*}(N)\,\hat{a}_{\vec{k}}^{\dagger}\,e^{i\vec{k}.\vec{x}}\right].$$
(3.9)

We assume a window function which imposes a sharp cut of f⁵ between the IR and UV momentum space modes:

$$W\left(\frac{k}{\sigma aH}\right) = \Theta\left(\frac{k}{\sigma aH} - 1\right). \tag{3.10}$$

It has the advantage of making the calculation of the noise correlation matrix elements more tractable.

⁵This assumption has been questioned, especially because the sharp cut-off window function may not lead to well-behaved coarse-grained field correlators in the physical space. See refs. [73, 88, 89] for more discussion.

Physically, the noise terms $\hat{\xi}_{\phi}$ and $\hat{\xi}_{\pi}$ in the Langevin eqs. (3.6) and (3.9) are sourced by the constant outflow of UV modes into the IR modes, i.e. as a UV mode exits the cut-off scale $k = \sigma a H$ to become part of the IR field on super-Hubble scales, the IR field receives a 'quantum kick' whose typical amplitude is given by $\sim \sqrt{\langle 0|\hat{\xi}(N)\hat{\xi}(N')|0\rangle}$, where $|0\rangle$ is usually taken to be the Bunch-Davies vacuum. Given that $\sigma \ll 1$, this happens on ultra super-Hubble scales, where the UV modes must have already become classical fluctuations⁶ due to the rapid decline of the non-commuting parts of the fields $\{\phi_k, \pi_k\}$ outside the Hubble radius [90–92]. This leads to the classical stochastic description of the dynamics of the coarse-grained quantum fields $\hat{\Phi}$, $\hat{\Pi}$ as discussed in the following subsection(s).

3.1 Langevin equation

The Langevin equations corresponding to eqs. (3.6) and (3.7) take the compact form

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\Phi_i}{\mathrm{d}N} = D_i + \xi_i(N) \tag{3.11}$$

with coarse-grained IR variables $\Phi_i = {\Phi, \Pi}$ and the drift terms

$$D_{i} = \left\{ \Pi, -(3 - \epsilon_{H})\Pi - \frac{V_{,\phi}(\Phi)}{H^{2}} \right\},$$
(3.12)

along with the noise operator terms $\xi_i = \{\xi_{\phi}, \xi_{\pi}\}.$

In this compact notation the expressions for the noise operators, eqs. (3.8) and (3.9), become

$$\hat{\xi}_{i}(N) = -\int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{3}\vec{k}}{(2\pi)^{\frac{3}{2}}} \frac{d}{\mathrm{d}N} W\left(\frac{k}{\sigma aH}\right) \left[\phi_{i_{k}}(N) \,\hat{a}_{\vec{k}} \, e^{-i\vec{k}.\vec{x}} + \phi_{i_{k}}^{*}(N) \,\hat{a}_{\vec{k}}^{\dagger} \, e^{i\vec{k}.\vec{x}}\right],\tag{3.13}$$

with $\phi_{i_k} = \{\phi_k, \pi_k\}$ being the field and momentum mode functions respectively. Assuming the sharp k-space window function, eq. (3.10), it is easy to show that the equal-space noise correlators (auto-correlators) take the form [80]

$$\langle \xi_i(N)\,\xi_j(N')\rangle = \Sigma_{ij}(N)\,\delta_D(N-N')\,,\tag{3.14}$$

where the noise correlation matrix Σ_{ij} has the form

$$\Sigma_{ij}(N) = (1 - \epsilon_H) \frac{k^3}{2\pi^2} \phi_{i_k}(N) \phi_{j_k}^*(N) \bigg|_{k = \sigma_a H}.$$
(3.15)

The stochastic nature of the noise leads to a probabilistic description of the system $\Phi_i = \{\Phi, \Pi\}$. One approach to analyse the system is by solving the Langevin equation, eq. (3.11), numerically for many (tens of millions) stochastic realizations and then proceeding to compute different moments of the physical (stochastic) variables. This method is direct, however cumbersome, non-analytical and requires significant computational power. See refs. [46, 47] for some of the earlier attempts in this direction, while for a more concrete analysis beyond slow-roll, see ref. [65], and for state-of-the-art numerical simulations, relevant for determining the PDF of primordial fluctuations, see refs. [66, 70, 71, 74].

⁶While the quantum-to-classical transition is still an open problem, the treatment of UV noise operators as stochastic noise terms is ensured to be valid as long as the decaying mode of ϕ_k is negligible compared to the non-decaying mode on super-Hubble scales [61].

There is also an analytically concrete way to study this system, using the *first-passage* time analysis which involves making a transition from the Langevin equations to an equivalent second order partial differential Fokker-Planck equation (FPE) [42, 45, 93, 94], that describes the time evolution of the PDF of the stochastic variables { Φ,Π }, subject to appropriate boundary conditions. Given our primary goal of computing the full PDF $P[\zeta]$, we take this route following refs. [56, 59, 69].

The FPE corresponding to the Langevin equation, eq. (3.11), takes the form

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial N} P(\Phi_i; N) = \mathcal{L}_{\text{FP}}(\Phi_i) \cdot P(\Phi_i; N) , \qquad (3.16)$$

where $\mathcal{L}_{\text{FP}}(\Phi_i)$ is the second-order Fokker-Planck differential operator and $P(\Phi_i; N)$ is the probability density function of the stochastic process that is related to the probability of finding the phase-space variables at a given value $\Phi_i = \{\Phi, \Pi\}$ at some time N. However such a quantity is not of primary concern to us since we are not interested in studying the phase-space dynamics of the inflaton.⁷ Rather, we are interested in finding the probability distribution $P_{\Phi_i}(\mathcal{N})$ of the number of e-folds \mathcal{N} . Note the important difference between our time variable N and the stochastic variable \mathcal{N} . N denotes the background expansion of the Universe, while \mathcal{N} is the number of e-folds of expansion obtained from the Langevin equations with fixed boundary conditions in the IR field space, ϕ_{en} and ϕ_{ex} . The coarsegrained curvature perturbation ζ_{cg} is related to the stochastic number of e-folds \mathcal{N} via the stochastic $\delta \mathcal{N}$ formalism [42, 48, 56, 59, 69]

$$\zeta_{\rm cg} \equiv \zeta(\Phi_i) = \mathcal{N} - \langle \mathcal{N}(\Phi_i) \rangle , \qquad (3.17)$$

with

$$\langle \mathcal{N}(\Phi_i) \rangle = \int_0^\infty \mathcal{N} P_{\Phi_i}(\mathcal{N}) \, \mathrm{d}\mathcal{N} \,,$$
 (3.18)

where the PDF $P_{\Phi_i}(\mathcal{N})$ of the number of e-folds satisfies the adjoint FPE which we discuss below in section 3.2. Note that $\mathcal{N}(\Phi_i)$ and $P_{\Phi_i}(\mathcal{N})$ correspond to $\mathcal{N}(\Phi,\Pi)$ and $P_{(\Phi,\Pi)}(\mathcal{N})$ respectively.

3.2 Adjoint Fokker-Planck equation and first-passage time analysis

The adjoint FPE for the PDF $P_{\Phi_i}(\mathcal{N})$ corresponding to the general Langevin equation, eq. (3.11), is given by

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial \mathcal{N}} P_{\Phi_i}(\mathcal{N}) = \left[D_i \frac{\partial}{\partial \Phi_i} + \frac{1}{2} \Sigma_{ij} \frac{\partial^2}{\partial \Phi_i \partial \Phi_j} \right] P_{\Phi_i}(\mathcal{N}) \,. \tag{3.19}$$

Our primary goal is to solve eq. (3.19), with appropriate boundary conditions for $\Phi_i \equiv \{\Phi, \Pi\}$ in order to compute the PDF $P_{\Phi_i}(\mathcal{N}) \equiv P_{\Phi,\Pi}(\mathcal{N})$. A physically well-motivated set of boundary conditions includes an absorbing boundary at smaller field values $\phi^{(A)}$ closer to the end of inflation and a reflecting boundary at a larger field value $\phi^{(R)}$ closer to the CMB scale. The PDF at the boundaries satisfies

1. Absorbing boundary at $\phi^{(A)}$

$$P_{\Phi=\phi^{(A)},\Pi}(\mathcal{N}) = \delta_D(\mathcal{N}), \qquad (3.20)$$

⁷This would have been our primary goal if we were studying the initial conditions for inflation, or exit from eternal inflation to a SR classical regime [95, 96].

2. Reflecting boundary at $\phi^{(R)}$

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial \Phi} P_{\Phi = \phi^{(\mathrm{R})}, \Pi}(\mathcal{N}) = 0.$$
(3.21)

The absorbing boundary condition ensures that for $\Phi < \phi^{(A)}$, the dynamics is heavily drift dominated and quantum diffusion effects are negligible. Similarly, the reflecting boundary condition arises from assuming that the potential is steep enough in the region $\Phi > \phi^{(R)}$ so that a freely diffusing inflaton can not climb back to a region of the potential beyond $\phi^{(R)}$. Both the boundary conditions play a crucial role in determining the functional form of the PDF, thus affecting the PBH mass fraction.

A convenient method for determining the PDF, as discussed in ref. [56], involves considering the 'characteristic function' (CF) $\chi_{\mathcal{N}}(q; \Phi_i)$, given by⁸

$$\chi_{\mathcal{N}}(q;\Phi_i) \equiv \langle e^{i\,q\,\mathcal{N}} \rangle = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e^{i\,q\,\mathcal{N}} P_{\Phi_i}(\mathcal{N}) \,\mathrm{d}\mathcal{N}\,, \qquad (3.22)$$

which is the Fourier transform of the PDF $P_{\Phi_i}(\mathcal{N})$ w.r.t. the dummy variable q (which is a complex number in general). Hence the PDF is the inverse Fourier transform of the CF:

$$P_{\Phi_i}(\mathcal{N}) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e^{-iq\mathcal{N}} \chi_{\mathcal{N}}(q; \Phi_i) \,\mathrm{d}q \,. \tag{3.23}$$

Since the PDF satisfies the adjoint FPE, eq. (3.19), the CF satisfies

$$\left[D_i \frac{\partial}{\partial \Phi_i} + \frac{1}{2} \Sigma_{ij} \frac{\partial^2}{\partial \Phi_i \partial \Phi_j} + iq\right] \chi_{\mathcal{N}}(q; \Phi_i) = 0, \qquad (3.24)$$

which is a partial differential equation with one less dynamical variable than the adjoint FPE. The corresponding boundary conditions, eqs. (3.20) and (3.21), for the characteristic function are given by

$$\chi_{\mathcal{N}}(q;\phi^{(\mathrm{A})},\Pi) = 1, \quad \frac{\partial}{\partial\Phi}\chi_{\mathcal{N}}(q;\phi^{(\mathrm{R})},\Pi) = 0.$$
(3.25)

The characteristic equation, eq. (3.24), corresponding to a potential $V(\phi)$ in a general situation is quite difficult to solve. In practice, one has to make crucial approximations regarding the classical drift D_i and the quantum noise ξ_i . The most common approximation used in the literature assumes that the noise matrix elements Σ_{ij} in eq. (3.15) are of the de Sitter-type, i.e. (see section 4)

$$\Sigma_{\phi\phi} = \left(\frac{H}{2\pi}\right)^2, \quad \Sigma_{\phi\pi}, \ \Sigma_{\pi\pi} \simeq 0.$$
(3.26)

We now specialise to the case of quantum diffusion across a flat segment of the inflaton potential, as discussed in section 2 and shown in figure 2. It is helpful to make a change of variables

$$f = \frac{\Phi - \phi_{\text{ex}}}{\Delta \phi_{\text{well}}}, \quad y = \frac{\Pi}{\pi_{\text{cr}}}, \qquad (3.27)$$

⁸The subscript \mathcal{N} in $\chi_{\mathcal{N}}(q; \Phi_i)$ denotes that the characteristic function is obtained by taking the Fourier transformation of the PDF with respect to \mathcal{N} , and hence $\chi_{\mathcal{N}}(q; \Phi_i)$ is in fact independent of \mathcal{N} and only a function of q, Φ .

where f is the fraction of the flat well which remains to be traversed and y is the momentum relative to the critical momentum defined in eq. (2.17), the initial momentum for which the fields comes to a halt at ϕ_{ex} . The CF, eq. (3.24), then becomes (see ref. [69])

$$\left[\frac{1}{\mu^2}\frac{\partial^2}{\partial f^2} - 3y\left(\frac{\partial}{\partial f} + \frac{\partial}{\partial y}\right) + iq\right]\chi_{\mathcal{N}}(q; f, y) = 0, \qquad (3.28)$$

where

$$\mu^2 \simeq \frac{\Delta \phi_{\text{well}}^2}{m_p^2} \frac{1}{v_{\text{well}}}, \qquad (3.29)$$

with $v_{\text{well}} = V_{\text{well}}/m_p^4$, where V_{well} is the height of the flat quantum well. The corresponding boundary conditions now become

$$\chi_{\mathcal{N}}(q;0,y) = 1, \quad \frac{\partial}{\partial f} \chi_{\mathcal{N}}(q;1,y) = 0.$$
(3.30)

Such a system has been solved [69] in two distinct limits, namely

• Free stochastic diffusion for which $\pi_{en} \ll \pi_{cr} \Rightarrow y_{en} \ll 1$, implying that the classical drift term, eq. (3.12), can be safely ignored, in which case the PDF takes the form (see refs. [56, 59])

$$P_f(\mathcal{N}) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} A_n \sin\left[(2n+1)\frac{\pi}{2}f\right] e^{-\Lambda_n \mathcal{N}}, \qquad (3.31)$$

where

$$A_n = (2n+1)\frac{\pi}{\mu^2}, \qquad \Lambda_n = (2n+1)^2 \frac{\pi^2}{4} \frac{1}{\mu^2}.$$
(3.32)

The full PDF as a function of \mathcal{N} is plotted in the left panel of figure 3. In the limit $\mathcal{N} \gg 1$, the PDF exhibits an 'exponential tail' of the form

 $P_{\Phi}(\mathcal{N}) \simeq A_0 e^{-\Lambda_0 \mathcal{N}}.$

It follows from eq. (3.32) that the amplitude, A_0 and coefficient of the exponential, Λ_0 , are given by

$$A_0 = \frac{\pi}{\mu^2}, \ \ \Lambda_0 = \frac{1}{4} \frac{\pi^2}{\mu^2},$$

(note that Λ_0 is independent of Φ), so that

$$P_{\Phi}(\mathcal{N}) \simeq \frac{\pi}{\mu^2} \cos\left[\frac{\pi}{2}\left(\frac{\Phi}{\Delta\phi_{\text{well}}}-1\right)\right] e^{-\frac{1}{4}\frac{\pi^2}{\mu^2}\mathcal{N}}.$$

In fact, the exponential tail was shown in ref. [59] to be a universal feature of the PDF for quantum diffusion across a generic slow-roll potential with absorbing and reflecting boundary conditions, eqs. (3.20) and (3.21). Larger values of f correspond to more quantum diffusion before exiting the flat quantum well and hence result in more prominent exponential tails. Notice that the PDFs saturate towards f = 1 which is a consequence of the reflective boundary condition given in eq. (3.21).

The full PDF as a function of initial field value Φ is plotted in the right panel of figure 3 for realizations which have different values of \mathcal{N} . It is clear that for $\mathcal{N} \to 0$, starting from $f = \Phi/\Delta\phi_{\text{well}} \simeq 0$ yields a sharply peaked distribution, in accordance with the absorbing boundary condition given in eq. (3.20).



Figure 3. Left panel: the full PDF for the flat quantum well as a function of \mathcal{N} for different values of the initial condition $\Phi = \phi_i$, expressed in terms of $f = \Phi/\Delta\phi_{well}$ (for simplicity, we assume $\phi_{ex} = 0$ here). Right panel: the full PDF as a function of initial field value Φ for realizations which have different values of \mathcal{N} .

• Large classical drift where $\pi_{\rm en} \gg \pi_{\rm cr} \Rightarrow y_{\rm en} \gg 1$. In this case the dynamics of the inflaton is primarily governed by its classical drift and hence the PDF is approximately Gaussian even for $\mathcal{N} \gg 1$ (see ref. [69]).

However, in cases where the power spectrum is amplified sufficiently to form an interesting abundance of PBHs, the inflaton typically enters the intermediate flat USR segment from the CMB scale SR-I phase (see figure 2), with speed of the order $\pi_{en} \simeq \pi_{cr} \Rightarrow y_{en} \simeq 1$. In this case, both classical drift and stochastic diffusion become important (at least initially during the entry into the USR segment) and hence the aforementioned approximations will not be valid. Furthermore, the de Sitter approximations for the noise matrix elements, eq. (3.26), might breakdown [97] during the transition into the USR phase. Consequently, it becomes important to estimate the noise matrix elements more accurately.

We conclude that in order to properly use the stochastic $\delta \mathcal{N}$ formalism to estimate the abundance of PBHs, one must correctly determine the PDF $P_{\Phi_i}(\mathcal{N})$ from the adjoint FPE eq. (3.19) with appropriate boundary conditions. As discussed above, this can be carried out in two important steps:

- 1. Calculate the noise matrix elements Σ_{ij} from eq. (3.15) accurately for the transitions between the CMB scale slow roll and subsequent slow-roll violating phases.
- 2. Determine the form of the PDF $P_{\Phi,\Pi}(\mathcal{N})$, taking into account the initial momentum with which the inflaton enters the USR segment.

In the rest of this paper, we carry out the first task of accurately computing the noise matrix elements, first numerically in section 4.2.1 for a potential with a slow-roll violating feature, and then analytically in section 4.2.2 for the case of instantaneous transitions between different phases during inflation. We reserve the second task to an upcoming paper [81].

4 Noise matrix elements in stochastic inflation

In this section we calculate the expressions for the noise matrix elements Σ_{ij} , i.e. the correlators of the field and momentum noise operators $\hat{\xi}_i = \{\hat{\xi}_{\phi}, \hat{\xi}_{\pi}\}$. We do this initially for standard

slow-roll inflation, and compare the estimates for Σ_{ij} computed using the pure de Sitter approximation to those obtained using the slow-roll approximations.

The key equations that we use are the following: the definition of the noise operators, eq. (3.13), which along with a step-like k-space window function, eq. (3.10), leads to the noise correlators of eq. (3.14), with the noise correlation matrix Σ_{ij} being given by eq. (3.15). It is important to note that these UV-noise mode functions are to be computed, not at Hubble crossing, but at $k = \sigma a H$, where they chronologically become part of the coarse-grained IR field and momentum, and provide quantum kicks. Hence, in order to compute the elements of the noise matrix Σ_{ij} , we need to compute the mode functions $\phi_{i_k} = {\phi_k, \pi_k}$. This can be done by solving the Mukhanov-Sasaki (MS) equation in terms of conformal time τ defined in eq. (2.9)⁹

$$v_k'' + \left(k^2 - \frac{z''}{z}\right)v_k = 0, \qquad (4.1)$$

where

$$z = am_p \sqrt{2\epsilon_H} \,, \tag{4.2}$$

$$\frac{z''}{z} = (aH)^2 \left[2 + 2\epsilon_H - 3\eta_H + 2\epsilon_H^2 + \eta_H^2 - 3\epsilon_H \eta_H - \frac{1}{aH} \eta_H' \right],$$
(4.3)

with appropriate initial conditions. The expressions for the mode functions ϕ_{i_k} in the spatially flat gauge¹⁰ are given by (see appendix A)

$$\phi_k = \frac{v_k}{a}, \quad \pi_k = \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}N} \left(\frac{v_k}{a}\right). \tag{4.4}$$

From section 3.2, it is clear that in order to accurately compute the noise matrix elements Σ_{ij} appearing in the adjoint FPE, eq. (3.19), we need to solve the MS equation as accurately as possible. For slow-roll inflation, all relevant scales were sub-Hubble at early times, and hence we impose the Bunch-Davies [98] initial conditions

$$\lim_{k\tau \longrightarrow -\infty} v_k(\tau) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2k}} e^{-ik\tau} \,. \tag{4.5}$$

We introduce a convenient new time variable, T, defined as

$$T = -k\tau = \frac{k}{aH}.$$
(4.6)

During quasi-dS expansion, the conformal time τ runs from $-\infty$ to 0, so T runs from ∞ to 0. Modes undergo Hubble-exit at $T \equiv k/(aH) = 1$, and the sub- and super-Hubble regimes correspond to $T \gg 1$ and $T \ll 1$ respectively.

⁹Note that depending upon the situation, the MS equation, eq. (4.1), written in terms of the number of e-folds $N \sim \ln(a)$ as

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}^2 v_k}{\mathrm{d}N^2} + (1 - \epsilon_H) \frac{\mathrm{d}v_k}{\mathrm{d}N} + \left[\left(\frac{k}{aH}\right)^2 - \frac{z''}{z} \right] v_k = 0$$

might be more useful. We note that in terms of N, the MS equation features a friction term, and both the terms inside the square bracket evolve with time. However, in terms of conformal time, τ , it is a simple harmonic oscillator equation with time dependent mass terms $(aH)^{-2}z''/z$, while the comoving mode frequency k is fixed, which is why we choose to work with conformal time.

¹⁰In this work we compute the mode functions $\{\phi_k, \pi_k\}$, and hence the noise matrix elements, Σ_{ij} , in the spatially flat gauge, while the Langevin equations are written in the uniform-*N* gauge. This introduces small corrections to the noise terms which we assume to be negligible [61]. We discuss this further in section 5.

In terms of T the MS equation, eq. (4.1), takes the form

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}^2 v_k}{\mathrm{d}T^2} + \left(1 - \frac{\nu^2 - \frac{1}{4}}{T^2}\right) v_k = 0, \qquad (4.7)$$

where

$$\nu^2 = \frac{1}{(aH)^2} \frac{z''}{z} + \frac{1}{4}.$$
(4.8)

For slow-roll inflation, ν^2 is greater than or equal to 9/4 at early times and increases monotonically towards the end of inflation. In the limit where ν is a constant, the MS eq. (4.7) can be converted to a Bessel equation as shown in appendix B. In what follows, we start with the computation of the noise-matrix elements for the case of featureless slow-roll potentials, before proceeding to discuss the case of potentials possessing a slow-roll violating feature.

4.1 Featureless potentials

In the case of a featureless potential for which slow roll is a good approximation up until the end of inflation, the effective mass term $(aH)^{-2}z''/z$ in the MS eq. (4.1) is almost a constant and evolves monotonically. Hence the MS eq. (4.7) can be solved analytically by approximating ν in eq. (4.8) to be a constant.

Let us first demonstrate this calculation for the case of the pure de Sitter limit which is usually employed in the computation of noise matrices in the stochastic formalism. In the pure dS limit, both ϵ_H , $\eta_H = 0$, leading to $z''/z = 2a^2H^2$ and $\nu^2 = 9/4$. Since $a(\tau) = -1/(H\tau)$ in the pure dS approximation,

$$a(T) = \frac{k}{HT}, \qquad (4.9)$$

and hence the MS eq. (4.7) reduces to the familiar form

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}^2 v_k}{\mathrm{d}T^2} + \left(1 - \frac{2}{T^2}\right) v_k = 0.$$
(4.10)

The general solution of this equation is given by

$$v_k(T) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2k}} \left[\alpha_k \left(1 + \frac{i}{T} \right) e^{iT} + \beta_k \left(1 - \frac{i}{T} \right) e^{-iT} \right], \tag{4.11}$$

where the positive and negative frequency Bogolyubov coefficients satisfy the canonical normalisation (Wronskian) condition

$$|\alpha_k|^2 - |\beta_k|^2 = 1. (4.12)$$

Imposing the Bunch-Davies boundary conditions given in eq. (4.5)

$$\lim_{T \gg 1} v_k(T) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2k}} e^{iT}, \qquad (4.13)$$

selects out the positive frequency solution only, *i.e* $\alpha_k = 1$, $\beta_k = 0$, resulting in the final expression for the MS mode functions

$$v_k(T) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2k}} \left(1 + \frac{i}{T} \right) e^{iT},$$
 (4.14)

from which we find the field and momentum mode functions from eq. (4.4) to be

$$\phi_k(T) = \frac{H}{\sqrt{2k^3}} \left(T+i\right) e^{iT}, \qquad (4.15)$$

$$\pi_k(T) = -\frac{H}{\sqrt{2k^3}} i T^2 e^{iT}.$$
(4.16)

Using the above expressions for the mode functions, we derive exact expressions¹¹ for the noise matrix elements, eq. (3.15), in the form (recall they are evaluated at $k = \sigma a H$, hence when $T = \sigma$)

$$\Sigma_{\phi\phi} = \left(1 + \sigma^2\right) \left(\frac{H}{2\pi}\right)^2, \qquad (4.17)$$

$$\operatorname{Re}(\Sigma_{\phi\pi}) = -\sigma^2 \left(\frac{H}{2\pi}\right)^2,\tag{4.18}$$

$$\Sigma_{\pi\pi} = \sigma^4 \left(\frac{H}{2\pi}\right)^2. \tag{4.19}$$

In the stochastic inflation formalism the field and momentum variables are coarsegrained on ultra-Hubble scales, where $\sigma \ll 1$. For example, taking $\sigma = 0.01$, we get $\operatorname{Re}(\Sigma_{\phi\pi}) = 10^{-4} \Sigma_{\phi\phi}$ and $\Sigma_{\pi\pi} = 10^{-8} \Sigma_{\phi\phi}$ under the pure de Sitter approximation. This motivates the usual practice of dropping the momentum-induced noise terms $\Sigma_{\phi\pi}$ and $\Sigma_{\pi\pi}$ from the adjoint FPE, eq. (3.19).

Turning now to slow-roll inflation, even though ϵ_H , $\eta_H \ll 1$, the slow-roll parameters do not exactly vanish unlike in pure dS space. Nevertheless, as long as the quasi-de Sitter expansion is valid (which is justified since $\epsilon_H \ll 1$), the expression for the scale factor in terms of *T* is still given by eq. (4.9). Under the slow-roll approximations, the MS equation takes the general form eq. (4.7) with $\nu \neq 3/2$. In fact for realistic SR potentials, ν is roughly equal to 3/2 and evolves slowly and monotonically. Assuming ν to be a constant, and imposing Bunch-Davies initial conditions, the expression for v_k takes the form (see appendix B)

$$v_k(T) = e^{i\left(\nu + \frac{1}{2}\right)\frac{\pi}{2}} \sqrt{\frac{\pi}{2}} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2k}} \sqrt{T} H_{\nu}^{(1)}(T), \qquad (4.20)$$

where $H_{\nu}^{(1)}(T)$ is the Hankel function of the first kind. For $\nu \neq 3/2$, using the expression for the super-Hubble limit of the Hankel function¹² given in eq. (B.8), we obtain expressions for the field and momentum mode functions

$$\phi_k(T) = e^{i\left(\nu - \frac{1}{2}\right)\frac{\pi}{2}} 2^{\nu - \frac{3}{2}} \frac{\Gamma(\nu)}{\Gamma(3/2)} \frac{H}{\sqrt{2k^3}} T^{-\nu + \frac{3}{2}}, \qquad (4.21)$$

$$\pi_k(T) = -e^{i\left(\nu - \frac{1}{2}\right)\frac{\pi}{2}} 2^{\nu - \frac{3}{2}} \frac{\Gamma(\nu)}{\Gamma(3/2)} \frac{H}{\sqrt{2k^3}} \left(-\nu + \frac{3}{2}\right) T^{-\nu + \frac{3}{2}}, \qquad (4.22)$$

¹¹Note that we have dropped the imaginary part of the off-diagonal terms of the noise correlator matrix since they do not correspond to classical noise sources [80].

¹²Expressions for Σ_{ij} which are valid for any value of ν in the super-Hubble limit are provided in appendix C (also see ref. [80]).



Figure 4. The numerically determined noise matrix elements for the slow-roll D-brane KKLT potential given in eq. (4.26) for $M = 0.5 m_p$, in the absence of any features with $\sigma = 0.01$, as a function of number of e-folds from the end of inflation N_e : from top to bottom $|\Sigma_{\phi\phi}|$, $|\text{Re}(\Sigma_{\phi\pi})|$ and $|\Sigma_{\pi\pi}|$, blue, green and purple lines respectively. We find significant differences between the numerical calculation and the analytical estimation under the assumption of a de Sitter expansion, eqs. (4.17)–(4.19), in which case the ratio of $\Sigma_{\phi\phi}$: $|\text{Re}(\Sigma_{\phi\pi})| : \Sigma_{\pi\pi}$ is $1:10^{-4}:10^{-8}$.

which leads to the following expressions for the noise matrix elements Σ_{ij} on super-Hubble scales

$$\Sigma_{\phi\phi} = 2^{2\left(\nu - \frac{3}{2}\right)} \left[\frac{\Gamma(\nu)}{\Gamma(3/2)}\right]^2 \left(\frac{H}{2\pi}\right)^2 T^{2\left(-\nu + \frac{3}{2}\right)},\tag{4.23}$$

$$\operatorname{Re}(\Sigma_{\phi\pi}) = -2^{2\left(\nu - \frac{3}{2}\right)} \left[\frac{\Gamma(\nu)}{\Gamma(3/2)}\right]^2 \left(\frac{H}{2\pi}\right)^2 \left(-\nu + \frac{3}{2}\right) T^{2\left(-\nu + \frac{3}{2}\right)}, \qquad (4.24)$$

$$\Sigma_{\pi\pi} = 2^{2\left(\nu - \frac{3}{2}\right)} \left[\frac{\Gamma(\nu)}{\Gamma(3/2)}\right]^2 \left(\frac{H}{2\pi}\right)^2 \left(-\nu + \frac{3}{2}\right)^2 T^{2\left(-\nu + \frac{3}{2}\right)}.$$
(4.25)

Recalling the definition of T in eq. (4.6) and the fact super-Hubble scales correspond to $k = \sigma a H$, hence $T = \sigma$, it follows that the above expressions demonstrate that all three noise terms scale as $\Sigma_{ij} \propto \sigma^{2(-\nu+3/2)}$ on super-Hubble scales. This is in contrast to the pure dS limit where the three noise terms in eqs. (4.17)–(4.19) behave differently, namely, $\Sigma_{\phi\phi} = \text{const.}, \Sigma_{\phi\pi} \propto \sigma^2$ and $\Sigma_{\pi\pi} \propto \sigma^4$. Hence, during SR inflation for which $\nu \simeq 3/2$, even though the momentum-induced noise terms $\Sigma_{\phi\pi}$ and $\Sigma_{\pi\pi}$ are small compared to the field noise $\Sigma_{\phi\phi}$, they may not be negligible, depending upon the value of $(\nu - 3/2)$. As mentioned previously, for most slow-roll potentials, ν evolves slowly and monotonically. The numerically determined noise matrix elements, Σ_{ij} , are shown in figure 4 for an example asymptotically flat SR potential, which we choose to be the D-Brane KKLT potential [99–102] which has the form

$$V(\phi) = V_0 \frac{\phi^2}{M^2 + \phi^2}, \qquad (4.26)$$

where M is the mass scale in the KKLT model which we have chosen to be $M = 0.5 m_p$. We have chosen $\sigma = 0.01$ as is the standard practice (see ref. [80]). We notice that the momentum induced noise terms $\Sigma_{\phi\pi}$ and $\Sigma_{\pi\pi}$ are much higher than their corresponding values in the pure de Sitter limit. In particular, we find the ratio¹³ of $\Sigma_{\phi\phi}$: $|\text{Re}(\Sigma_{\phi\pi})| : \Sigma_{\pi\pi}$ to be $1 : 2 \times 10^{-2} : 4 \times 10^{-4}$ for large N_e as opposed to the de Sitter analytic estimate of $1 : 10^{-4} : 10^{-8}$. Additionally, the momentum induced noise terms scale approximately in the same way as the field noise $\Sigma_{\phi\phi}$ in accordance with eqs. (4.23)–(4.25) at early times during inflation when $\nu \simeq \text{const.}$. Towards the end of inflation, since ν starts to evolve faster, our analytical results based on $\nu \simeq \text{const.}$ are no longer applicable.

4.2 Potentials with a slow-roll violating feature

Potentials possessing a feature that generates large, PBH-forming, perturbations, typically exhibit slow-roll violation, during which the quasi-dS approximation is still valid ($\epsilon_H \ll 1$), while $\eta_H \ge 1$ (see ref. [83]). In particular, $\eta_H \simeq 3$ during an ultra slow-roll phase as discussed in section 2. From eq. (4.3), the expression for the effective mass term z''/z under the quasi-dS approximation becomes

$$\frac{1}{(aH)^2} \frac{z''}{z} \simeq 2 - 3\,\eta_H + \eta_H^2 + \tau \,\frac{\mathrm{d}\eta_H}{\mathrm{d}\tau}\,.\tag{4.27}$$

In this case, the inflationary dynamics undergoes transitions between a number of phases driven by the behaviour of η_H . In single field models in which perturbations grow sufficiently to produce an interesting abundance of PBHs, the inflaton typically undergoes two important transitions (see ref. [87]). The first transition T-I occurs from the CMB scale SR-I to a near-USR phase, followed by a second transition T-II, from the near-USR phase to the subsequent second slow-roll phase, SR-II, before the end of inflation. For some class of features (see refs. [87, 104]), the second transition T-II also leads to an intermediate constant-roll (CR) phase [105] during which η_H is negative, almost constant, and of order unity.

As a specific example, we consider a modified KKLT potential with an additional tiny Gaussian bump-like feature [106]:

$$V_{\rm b}(\phi) = V_0 \frac{\phi^2}{M^2 + \phi^2} \left[1 + A \, \exp\left(-\frac{1}{2} \, \frac{(\phi - \phi_0)^2}{\tilde{\sigma}^2}\right) \right],\tag{4.28}$$

where A, $\tilde{\sigma}$ and ϕ_0 represent the height, width and position of the bump respectively. The evolution of η_H and z''/z for this potential is shown in figure 5. Following ref. [106], we fix $M = 0.5 m_p$, and take the bump parameters to be $A = 1.87 \times 10^{-3}$, $\tilde{\sigma} = 1.993 \times 10^{-2} m_p$ and $\phi_0 = 2.005 m_p$. These bump parameter values lead to a peak in the scalar power-spectrum of $\mathcal{P}_{\zeta} \sim 10^{-2}$ at a k value corresponding to $\sim 10^{17}$ g PBHs, i.e. at the lower end of the asteroid mass window where PBHs can make up all of the dark matter (see e.g. refs. [14, 15]).

The inflationary dynamics in this case display the aforementioned three key phases, namely SR-I, USR and CR with η_H making sharp (yet smooth) transitions between them,

¹³The ratio of the noise terms is not strongly dependent on the value of the KKLT mass scale, M. Smaller values of M result in smaller values of ϵ_H , without changing the value of η_H significantly. Therefore, in the quasi-dS limit $\epsilon_H \ll 1$, the value of ν^2 from eq. (4.8) and hence the noise matrix elements, eqs. (4.23)–(4.25), do not change significantly. Such weak dependence of the ratio of noise terms on the parameters of the potential is also the case for α -attractors as well as for a number of other asymptotically flat potentials (see refs. [101, 103]). However, in general, if a change in the parameters of the potential changes the value of ν , it will change the ratio of the noise terms.



Figure 5. Evolution of the effective mass term $(1/aH)^2 z''/z$ in the Mukhanov-Sasaki equation eq. (4.1) (solid green curve) and η_H (dashed blue curve) for the modified KKLT potential featuring a tiny Gaussian bump as given in eq. (4.28). The black-dashed line is $(1/aH)^2 z''/z$ for a de Sitter expansion (eq. (4.8)), namely $\nu = 3/2$. In the modified KKLT case, $(1/aH)^2 z''/z$ makes a sharp yet smooth dip around the transition from the CMB scale SR-I to the subsequent near-USR phase, after which it remains almost constant throughout the USR and constant-roll (CR) phases (but with $\nu > 3/2$), until the inflaton enters into another slow-roll phase, SR-II, before the end of inflation. The corresponding noise matrix elements associated with this potential are shown in figure 6.

as shown by the dashed blue curve in figure 5. However, during the second transition from USR to the CR phase ($15 \le N_e \le 30$), the effective mass term $(aH)^{-2}z''/z$ remains nearly constant,¹⁴ as emphasized in ref. [87]. The evolution of the mode functions (and hence the noise matrix elements) is determined by $(aH)^{-2}z''/z$ through the MS eq. (4.1). The expression for the mode functions therefore remains the same in the subsequent CR phase through the second transition because of the duality first noticed by Wands (see ref. [107]). Hence it is only necessary to follow the evolution through the first transition, T-I, from SR-I to the near-USR phase.

In what follows, we will first describe how to compute the noise matrix elements Σ_{ij} numerically for the potential eq. (4.28), before finding accurate analytic solutions for them. Note that we use this particular model to demonstrate our numerical framework because of its mathematical simplicity and efficiency. However, the results we present are representative of models with a broad range of features, including inflection point-like behaviour. This is

$$\eta_H = \frac{3}{2} + C \tanh\left[C\left(N_e - \tilde{N}_e\right)\right]$$

¹⁴The effective mass term remains almost constant during the second transition because of the upward step-like evolution of η_H as a function of N_e . In the quasi-dS approximation, $\epsilon_H \ll 1$, the effective mass term, eq. (4.27), becomes $(aH)^{-2}z''/z \simeq 2-3\eta_H + \eta_H^2 + \tau \eta'_H$. If η_H has the form

where C is a constant and \tilde{N}_e is the value of N_e at which $\eta_H = 3/2$, i.e. an upward step, then $(aH)^{-2}z''/z = C^2 - 1/4 = \text{const.}$. Note that the effective mass term is only constant for an upwards step in η_H , and not for a downward step, as occurs at the first transition.

because, as shown in ref. [87], the behaviour of the effective mass term z''/z is similar across these large class of models, hence our primary conclusions will apply to all of them, and not just this modified KKLT model.

4.2.1 Numerical analysis

D.

In order to numerically compute the noise matrix elements for the potential eq. (4.28), our strategy is to split the mode functions ϕ_k , π_k and v_k into their real and imaginary parts (see ref. [104])

$$v_k = v_k^{(R)} + i v_k^{(I)}, \quad \phi_k = \phi_k^{(R)} + i \phi_k^{(I)}, \quad \pi_k = \pi_k^{(R)} + i \pi_k^{(I)}.$$
(4.29)

We impose Bunch-Davies initial conditions eq. (4.5) deep in the sub-Hubble regime, $k \gg aH$, to obtain $v_k^{(R)}$, $v_k^{(I)}$. Using eq. (4.4), we then find the real and imaginary parts of ϕ_k and π_k :

$$\phi_k \equiv \phi_k^{(R)} + i \, \phi_k^{(I)} = \frac{1}{a} \left[v_k^{(R)} + i \, v_k^{(I)} \right], \tag{4.30}$$

$$\pi_k \equiv \pi_k^{(R)} + i \,\pi_k^{(I)} = \frac{1}{a} \left[\left(\frac{v_k^{\prime(R)}}{aH} - v_k^{(R)} \right) + i \left(\frac{v_k^{\prime(I)}}{aH} - v_k^{(I)} \right) \right]. \tag{4.31}$$

Substituting eqs. (4.29)–(4.31) into eq. (3.15), we derive the following compact expressions for the noise matrix elements Σ_{ij}

$$\Sigma_{\phi\phi} = (1 - \epsilon_H) \frac{k^3}{2\pi^2} \times \frac{1}{a^2} \times \left[\left(v_k^{(R)} \right)^2 + \left(v_k^{(I)} \right)^2 \right] \bigg|_{k=\sigma aH}$$

$$(\Sigma_{\pi\phi}) = \operatorname{Re}(\Sigma_{\phi\pi}) = (1 - \epsilon_H) \frac{k^3}{2\pi^2} \times \frac{1}{a^2} \times \left[v_k^{(R)} \left(\frac{v_k'^{(R)}}{aH} - v_k^{(R)} \right) + v_k^{(I)} \left(\frac{v_k'^{(I)}}{aH} - v_k^{(I)} \right) \right] \bigg|$$
(4.32)

$$\operatorname{Ke}(\Sigma_{\pi\phi}) = \operatorname{Ke}(\Sigma_{\phi\pi}) = (1 - \epsilon_H) \frac{1}{2\pi^2} \times \frac{1}{a^2} \times \left[v_k^* \left(\frac{1}{aH} - v_k^* \right) + v_k^* \left(\frac{1}{aH} - v_k^* \right) \right] \Big|_{k=\sigma aH}$$

$$(4.33)$$

$$\Sigma_{\pi\pi} = (1 - \epsilon_H) \frac{k^3}{2\pi^2} \times \frac{1}{a^2} \times \left[\left(\frac{v_k'^{(R)}}{aH} - v_k^{(R)} \right)^2 + \left(\frac{v_k'^{(I)}}{aH} - v_k^{(I)} \right)^2 \right] \Big|_{k = \sigma a H}.$$
(4.34)

As we mentioned earlier, the imaginary part of the off-diagonal term $\Sigma_{\pi\phi}$ does not correspond to a stochastic classical noise source [80], hence we only need consider its real part in eq. (4.33). The evolution of the absolute values of $\Sigma_{\phi\phi}$, $\operatorname{Re}(\Sigma_{\phi\pi})$ and $\Sigma_{\pi\pi}$ for the potential eq. (4.28) are plotted in figure 6 for $\sigma = 0.01$, while figure 7 shows the ratios between the momentum-induced noise terms and the field noise, $|\operatorname{Re}(\Sigma_{\phi\pi})|/|\Sigma_{\phi\phi}|$ and $|\Sigma_{\pi\pi}|/|\Sigma_{\phi\phi}|$ around the transition epoch. The transition leads to an enhancement of the momentum induced noise terms relative to the field noise with $\Sigma_{\pi\pi} > |\operatorname{Re}(\Sigma_{\phi\pi})| > \Sigma_{\phi\phi}$. This is followed by a near-exponential fall of each Σ_{ij} during USR, since the slope of Σ_{ij} is almost constant during this epoch. We see that $|\Sigma_{\pi\pi}|/|\Sigma_{\phi\phi}| \gtrsim 3 \times |\operatorname{Re}(\Sigma_{\phi\pi})|/|\Sigma_{\phi\phi}|$. At late times the noise matrix elements begin to rise again and asymptote to constant values, and the hierarchy between the noise terms gets reversed back to $\Sigma_{\pi\pi} < |\operatorname{Re}(\Sigma_{\phi\pi})| < \Sigma_{\phi\phi}$. We also notice that the asymptotic value of each Σ_{ij} at late times is greater than its corresponding value in the SR-I phase.

From figures 6 and 7, we conclude that the noise matrix elements for a potential with a PBH-forming feature evolve in a more complicated way than for pure de Sitter or pure slow-roll. We next show that the aforementioned interesting features of the noise terms across different epochs, such as during SR-I, immediately after the transition from SR-I to USR, as well as the late time asymptote, can be understood by making appropriate analytical approximations. In



Figure 6. The numerically determined noise matrix elements, Σ_{ij} , with $\sigma = 0.01$, for the modified KKLT potential with a tiny Gaussian bump, eq. (4.28), leading to a realistic smooth transition from SR-I to a near-USR phase. (Note that the plot shows the behaviour of Σ_{ij} only in the vicinity of the USR regime.) The transition leads to an enhancement of the momentum induced noise terms, $\Sigma_{\phi\pi}$ and $\Sigma_{\pi\pi}$, relative to the field noise, $\Sigma_{\phi\phi}$, in the USR epoch.



Figure 7. The ratios of the momentum-induced noise terms and the field noise, $|\text{Re}(\Sigma_{\phi\pi})|/|\Sigma_{\phi\phi}|$ in green and $|\Sigma_{\pi\pi}|/|\Sigma_{\phi\phi}|$ in purple, with $\sigma = 0.01$, for the potential eq. (4.28) with a tiny Gaussian bump as a function of N_e around the SR-I to USR transition. The transition from SR-I to USR leads to an enhancement of the momentum induced noise terms, $\Sigma_{\phi\pi}$ and $\Sigma_{\pi\pi}$, relative to the field noise, $\Sigma_{\phi\phi}$, in the USR epoch.

the following subsection, we compute the noise matrix elements analytically by assuming the transition T-I from SR-I to the near-USR phase to be instantaneous. We will also demonstrate that in the quasi-dS limit, $\epsilon_H \ll 1$, the noise terms are completely determined by the second slow-roll parameter η_H .

4.2.2 Analytical treatment for instantaneous transitions

In order to compute Σ_{ij} analytically, we consider an approach which captures the key features of the full numerical evolution, namely solving the MS eq. (4.7) under the following assumptions.

1. We assume the second slow-roll parameter η_H to be a piece-wise constant function which makes an instantaneous (yet finite) transition, $\eta_H : \eta_1 \to \eta_2$ at time $\tau = \tau_1$, given by

$$\eta_H(\tau) = \eta_1 + (\eta_2 - \eta_1) \Theta(\tau - \tau_1), \qquad (4.35)$$

where Θ is the Heaviside step function:

$$\Theta(\tau - \tau_1) = \begin{cases} 0, & \tau < \tau_1, \\ 1, & \tau > \tau_1. \end{cases}$$
(4.36)

2. The corresponding expression for ν given in eq. (4.8) is then determined using eq. (4.3), which under the quasi-dS approximation, $\epsilon_H \simeq 0$, becomes eq. (4.27). Using the expression for η_H from eq. (4.35) in eq. (4.27), we obtain

$$\nu^{2} - \frac{1}{4} \equiv \frac{z''}{z} \tau^{2} = \mathcal{A} \tau \,\delta_{D}(\tau - \tau_{1}) + \nu_{1}^{2} - \frac{1}{4} + \left(\nu_{2}^{2} - \nu_{1}^{2}\right) \Theta(\tau - \tau_{1}) \,, \tag{4.37}$$

where

$$\mathcal{A} = \eta_2 - \eta_1, \quad \nu_{1,2}^2 - \frac{1}{4} = 2 - 3\eta_{1,2} + \eta_{1,2}^2.$$
(4.38)

Hence the piece-wise constant η_H in eq. (4.35) results in a piece-wise constant ν in eq. (4.37). We notice that the effective mass term z''/z contains a Dirac delta-function arising from the derivative of the Θ function in eq. (4.35). Note that for $\eta_2 > \eta_1$ (which is the case for the SR-I \rightarrow USR transition in figure 5) we have $\mathcal{A} > 0$ and hence the term containing the Dirac delta-function in eq. (4.37) is negative (since $\tau < 0$ during inflation). This delta-function dip for an instantaneous transition analytically represents the observed dip of finite width and depth for potentials with a smooth feature, as seen in $(1/aH)^2 z''/z$ in figure 5 (around $N_e \sim 32.5$).

- 3. We impose Bunch-Davies initial conditions, eq. (4.5), only for modes that become super-Hubble at early times before the transition i.e. $\tau < \tau_1$.
- 4. General solutions to the MS equation in different piece-wise constant ν regimes are matched during the transition $\tau = \tau_1$ by using the Israel Junction conditions [86, 97, 108]

$$v_k^L(\tau_1) = v_k^E(\tau_1) \qquad (\text{Continuity}), \qquad (4.39)$$

$$\left. \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}\tau} v_k^L \right|_{\tau_1^+} - \left. \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}\tau} v_k^E \right|_{\tau_1^-} = \int_{\tau_1^-}^{\tau_1^+} \mathrm{d}\tau \frac{z''}{z} v_k^L(\tau) \qquad \text{(Differentiability)}, \qquad (4.40)$$

where $v_k^E(\tau)$ and $v_k^L(\tau)$ are the mode functions before and after the transition respectively, represented by

$$v_k(\tau) = \begin{cases} v_k^E(\tau), & \tau < \tau_1, \\ v_k^L(\tau), & \tau > \tau_1. \end{cases}$$
(4.41)

We would ultimately like to derive expressions for the noise matrix elements which can be expressed in terms of the mode functions v_k in the following compact form

$$\Sigma_{\phi\phi} = \left(\frac{H}{2\pi}\right)^2 T^2 \left|\sqrt{2k} v_k(T)\right|^2 \Big|_{T=\sigma},\tag{4.42}$$

$$\operatorname{Re}(\Sigma_{\pi\phi}) = -\left(\frac{H}{2\pi}\right)^2 T^2 \operatorname{Re}\left(\sqrt{2k}v_k^*(T) \left[T\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}T}\left(\sqrt{2k}v_k(T)\right) + \sqrt{2k}v_k(T)\right]\right)\Big|_{T=\sigma},\qquad(4.43)$$

$$\Sigma_{\pi\pi} = \left(\frac{H}{2\pi}\right)^2 T^2 \left| T \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}T} \left(\sqrt{2k} \, v_k(T) \right) + \sqrt{2k} \, v_k(T) \right|^2 \right|_{T=\sigma},\tag{4.44}$$

where we take $\sigma = 0.01$ as discussed earlier. We start with the computation of noise matrix elements for an instantaneous transition in the pure dS limit where $\nu_1 = \nu_2 = 3/2$, before moving on to a general transition between constant values of $\nu : \nu_1 \rightarrow \nu_2$, with $\nu_2 > \nu_1$.

Case 1: instantaneous transition in the pure dS limit with $\nu_1 = \nu_2 = \frac{3}{2}$. In the case of an instantaneous transition at $\tau = \tau_1$ in the pure dS limit (first considered in ref. [109]), we have $\eta_1 = 0$ and $\eta_2 = 3$ and the system makes a transition from a SR to an exact USR phase. Accordingly, the effective mass term in the MS equation takes the form

$$\frac{z''}{z}\tau^2 = \mathcal{A}\tau\,\delta_D(\tau-\tau_1) + 2\,,\tag{4.45}$$

where the transition strength is $\mathcal{A} = 3$. The expressions for the mode functions, obtained by solving eq. (4.1) are given (in terms of $T = -k\tau$) by

$$v_k(T) \equiv \begin{cases} v_k^E(T) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2k}} \left(1 + \frac{i}{T} \right) e^{iT}, & T > T_1, \\ v_k^L(T) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2k}} \left[\alpha_k \left(1 + \frac{i}{T} \right) e^{iT} + \beta_k \left(1 - \frac{i}{T} \right) e^{-iT} \right], & T < T_1, \end{cases}$$
(4.46)

where α_k and β_k are constants of integration (to be determined from the Israel junction conditions given in eqs. (4.39) and (4.40)), while their derivatives are given by

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}v_k}{\mathrm{d}T} \equiv \begin{cases} \frac{\mathrm{d}v_k^E}{\mathrm{d}T} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2k}} \left[-\frac{1}{T} + i\left(1 - \frac{1}{T^2}\right) \right] e^{iT}, & T > T_1, \\ \frac{\mathrm{d}v_k^L}{\mathrm{d}T} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2k}} \left[\alpha_k \left[-\frac{1}{T} + i\left(1 - \frac{1}{T^2}\right) \right] e^{iT} + \beta_k \left[-\frac{1}{T} - i\left(1 - \frac{1}{T^2}\right) \right] e^{-iT} \right], & T < T_1, \end{cases}$$
(4.47)

where recall $T > T_1$ corresponds to the epoch before the transition and $T < T_1$ to the epoch after the transition. Note that we have imposed Bunch-Davies initial conditions on the mode function $v_k^E(T)$ before the transition $T > T_1$, in accordance with our third assumption as discussed above. The corresponding Fourier modes of the field fluctuations are obtained from eq. (4.4)

$$\phi_k(T) = \begin{cases} \phi_k^E(T) = \frac{H}{\sqrt{2k^3}} (T+i) e^{iT}, & T > T_1, \\ \phi_k^L(T) = \frac{H}{\sqrt{2k^3}} \left[\alpha_k (T+i) e^{iT} + \beta_k (T-i) e^{-iT} \right], & T < T_1. \end{cases}$$
(4.48)

as are those of the field momentum fluctuations

$$\pi_k(T) = \begin{cases} \pi_k^E(T) = -\frac{H}{\sqrt{2k^3}} i \, T^2 \, e^{i T} \,, & T > T_1 \,, \\ \pi_k^L(T) = -\frac{H}{\sqrt{2k^3}} i \, T^2 \left[\, \alpha_k \, e^{i T} - \beta_k \, e^{-i T} \, \right] \,, & T < T_1 \,. \end{cases}$$
(4.49)

The Bogolyubov coefficients α_k and β_k , determined by implementing the Israel junction conditions, eqs. (4.39) and (4.40), are given by

$$a_1 \alpha_k + b_1 \beta_k = d_1 \tag{4.50}$$

$$a_2 \alpha_k + b_2 \beta_k = d_2 \,, \tag{4.51}$$

which yields

$$\alpha_k = \frac{d_1 b_2 - d_2 b_1}{a_1 b_2 - a_2 b_1}, \quad \beta_k = \frac{d_2 a_1 - d_1 a_2}{a_1 b_2 - a_2 b_1}, \quad (4.52)$$

where

$$a_1 = T_1 + i \tag{4.53}$$

$$b_1 = (T_1 - i) e^{-i2T_1} \tag{4.54}$$

$$a_{2} = (1 + \mathcal{A}) T_{1} + i \left(1 + \mathcal{A} - T_{1}^{2} \right)$$
(4.55)

$$b_2 = (1 + \mathcal{A}) T_1 - i \left(1 + \mathcal{A} - T_1^2 \right) e^{-i 2T_1}$$
(4.56)

$$d_1 = T_1 + i \tag{4.57}$$

$$d_2 = T_1 + i\left(1 - T_1^2\right) \tag{4.58}$$

With a little bit of algebra, we obtain 15

$$\alpha_k = 1 - i \frac{\mathcal{A}}{2} \frac{1}{T_1} \left(1 + \frac{1}{T_1^2} \right), \tag{4.59}$$

$$\beta_k = i \frac{\mathcal{A}}{2} \frac{1}{T_1} \left(1 + \frac{i}{T_1} \right)^2 e^{i \, 2T_1} \,. \tag{4.60}$$

From the above expressions, we can compute the noise matrix elements $\Sigma_{\phi\phi}$, $\Sigma_{\phi\pi}$, $\Sigma_{\pi\pi}$ in eqs. (4.42)–(4.44). The instantaneous transition leads to a mixing between the positive and negative frequency solutions for the mode functions. Our analytical results are shown in the left panel of figure 8 for $\mathcal{A} = +3$.¹⁶ The asymptotic behaviour of Σ_{ij} at different epochs can be inferred from the scale dependence of the Bogolyubov coefficients, given by eqs. (4.59) and (4.60). Note that different comoving modes contribute to the noise terms at different times. Immediately after the transition, when $T \leq T_1 \ll 1$, the noise matrix elements are due to modes joining the coarse-graining scale $T = \sigma$ at this epoch, for which, using eqs. (4.59) and (4.60), α_k , $\beta_k \simeq -3i/(2T_1^3)$. Consequently, the noise terms from eqs. (4.42)–(4.44) behave

¹⁵Eqs. (4.59) and (4.60) agree with the results obtained in refs. [97, 109] for an inflaton potential consisting of two linear regimes $V(\phi) \propto \phi$ and slopes α , β that are joined at a point $\phi = \phi_1$ in which case T_1 is related to ϕ_1 and $\mathcal{A} = 3(\alpha - \beta)/\alpha$.

¹⁶The noise matrix elements for the case of an instantaneous transition were also estimated in ref. [97] under the pure dS approximation for the Starobinsky model [109]. Using our calculations, with a transition strength in the range $\mathcal{A} \leq 3$, one can obtain the noise matrix elements for the entire parameter space of the Starobinsky model.

as $\Sigma_{ij} \propto T_1^{-6}$. Since $T_1 = k/(a_1H_1)$, $\Sigma_{ij} \propto k^{-6} \propto e^{6N_e}$, and the ratio $\Sigma_{\phi\phi} : |\operatorname{Re}(\Sigma_{\phi\pi})| : \Sigma_{\pi\pi}$ is given by 1:3:9, to leading order in $T = \sigma$. Following this epoch, the noise terms begin to rise exponentially, and the hierarchy between the field and momentum induced terms gets reversed back to $\Sigma_{\phi\phi} > |\operatorname{Re}(\Sigma_{\phi\pi})| > \Sigma_{\pi\pi}$. At sufficiently late times, when $T \ll 1 \ll T_1$, the noise matrix elements are due to modes for which $\alpha_k \to 1$, while $\beta_k \simeq 3i/(2T_1) e^{i2T_1}$ decays to zero with oscillations. Hence the noise matrix elements asymptote to their corresponding pre-transition (constant) values given by eqs. (4.17)–(4.19).

Comparing the analytical results for an instantaneous transition in the pure dS limit, shown in the left panel of figure 8, with the numerical results for a potential with a PBH forming feature shown in figure 6, we conclude that the former fails to capture¹⁷ the late time asymptotic properties of Σ_{ij} . Therefore, in the following, we will compute Σ_{ij} relaxing the pure dS approximation.

Case 2: instantaneous transition between two constant values of $\nu: \nu_1 \to \nu_2$. In the case of an instantaneous transition at $\tau = \tau_1$ where ν makes a jump¹⁸ between the constant values $\nu_1 \to \nu_2$, once again by solving eq. (4.1), the expressions for the mode functions are given (in terms of $T = -k\tau$) by

$$v_k(T) = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2k}} \sqrt{\frac{\pi}{2}} e^{i\left(\nu_1 + \frac{1}{2}\right)\frac{\pi}{2}} \sqrt{T} H_{\nu_1}^{(1)}(T), & T > T_1, \\ \sqrt{T} \left[C_1^L H_{\nu_2}^{(1)}(T) + C_2^L H_{\nu_2}^{(2)}(T) \right], & T < T_1, \end{cases}$$
(4.61)

and their derivatives are given by

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}v_k}{\mathrm{d}T} = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2k}} \sqrt{\frac{\pi}{2}} e^{i\left(\nu_1 + \frac{1}{2}\right)\frac{\pi}{2}} \frac{1}{\sqrt{T}} \left[\left(\frac{1}{2} - \nu_1\right) H_{\nu_1}^{(1)}(T) + T H_{\nu_1 - 1}^{(1)}(T) \right], & T > T_1 \\ 1 \left[C L\left(\left(1 - \nu_1\right) H_{\nu_1}^{(1)}(T) + T H_{\nu_1 - 1}^{(1)}(T) \right) + C L\left(\left(1 - \nu_1\right) H_{\nu_1}^{(2)}(T) + T H_{\nu_1 - 1}^{(2)}(T) \right) \right], & T > T_1 \end{cases}$$

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{d}I & \left[\frac{1}{\sqrt{T}} \left[C_1^L \left(\left(\frac{1}{2} - \nu_2 \right) H_{\nu_2}^{(1)}(T) + T H_{\nu_2 - 1}^{(1)}(T) \right) + C_2^L \left(\left(\frac{1}{2} - \nu_2 \right) H_{\nu_2}^{(2)}(T) + T H_{\nu_2 - 1}^{(2)}(T) \right) \right], \quad T < T_1 \end{aligned}$$

$$(4.62)$$

By implementing the Israel junction conditions, eqs. (4.39) and (4.40), the constant coefficients of integration C_1^L and C_2^L can be shown to satisfy the algebraic equations

$$a_1 C_1^L + b_1 C_2^L = d_1 \tag{4.63}$$

$$a_2 C_1^L + b_2 C_2^L = d_2 , (4.64)$$

which yields

$$C_1^L = \frac{d_1 b_2 - d_2 b_1}{a_1 b_2 - a_2 b_1}, \quad C_2^L = \frac{d_2 a_1 - d_1 a_2}{a_1 b_2 - a_2 b_1}, \tag{4.65}$$

¹⁷Note, however, that the pure dS-transition is a good approximation for potentials featuring a 'flat' segment (as shown in figure 2) rather than a bump. In this case eqs. (4.46)–(4.60) can be used to compute the noise terms (see ref. [97]).

¹⁸Earlier work on instantaneous transition during inflation beyond the pure de Sitter approximation (when $\nu \neq 3/2$) can be found in refs. [110–112].



Figure 8. The noise matrix elements Σ_{ij} computed analytically using eqs. (4.42)–(4.44), for $\sigma = 0.01$. Left panel: an instantaneous transition from SR to USR using the pure de Sitter limit, $\nu_1 = \nu_2 = 3/2$. Right panel: an instantaneous transition from a SR phase with $\nu_1 = 1.52$ to a near-USR phase with $\nu_2 = 1.8$. In both cases the thin dashed lines show the analytical asymptotes immediately after the transition, $\Sigma_{ij} \sim e^{2\mathcal{A}N_e}$.

where

$$a_1 = H_{\nu_2}^{(1)}(T_1) \tag{4.66}$$

$$b_1 = H_{\nu_2}^{(2)}(T_1) \tag{4.67}$$

$$a_2 = \left(\frac{1}{2} - \nu_2 - \mathcal{A}\right) H_{\nu_2}^{(1)}(T_1) + T_1 H_{\nu_2 - 1}^{(1)}(T_1)$$
(4.68)

$$b_2 = \left(\frac{1}{2} - \nu_2 - \mathcal{A}\right) H_{\nu_2}^{(2)}(T_1) + T_1 H_{\nu_2 - 1}^{(2)}(T_1)$$
(4.69)

$$d_1 = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2k}} \sqrt{\frac{\pi}{2}} e^{i\left(\nu_1 + \frac{1}{2}\right)\frac{\pi}{2}} H_{\nu_1}^{(1)}(T_1)$$
(4.70)

$$d_2 = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2k}} \sqrt{\frac{\pi}{2}} e^{i\left(\nu_1 + \frac{1}{2}\right)\frac{\pi}{2}} \left[\left(\frac{1}{2} - \nu_1\right) H_{\nu_1}^{(1)}(T_1) + T_1 H_{\nu_1 - 1}^{(1)}(T_1) \right]$$
(4.71)

The resulting noise matrix elements, computed using eqs. (4.42)-(4.44), are shown in the right panel of figure 8. In order to compare our results with the numerical calculation in figure 6, we choose $\nu_1 = 1.52$ and $\nu_2 = 1.8$. These values correspond to $\eta_1 = -0.02$ and $\eta_2 = 3.3$ respectively, to match the values of η_H during the SR-I and the near-USR epochs for the modified KKLT potential with a Gaussian bump used for the numerical calculation in figure 6.

As in the pure dS case, immediately after the transition, when $T \lesssim T_1 \ll 1$, the noise matrix elements fall nearly-exponentially with $\Sigma_{ij} \sim e^{2\mathcal{A}N_e}$. The ratio $\Sigma_{\phi\phi} : |\operatorname{Re}(\Sigma_{\phi\pi})| : \Sigma_{\pi\pi}$ is approximately $1 : \mathcal{A} : \mathcal{A}^2$ (where $\mathcal{A} \equiv \eta_2 - \eta_1 = 3.32$ from eq. (4.38)), and nearly constant. However, following this epoch the noise terms begin to rise and the hierarchy between the field and momentum induced terms is reversed back to $\Sigma_{\phi\phi} > |\operatorname{Re}(\Sigma_{\phi\pi})| > \Sigma_{\pi\pi}$. At sufficiently late times, $T \ll 1 \ll T_1$, the coefficient of the negative frequency solution C_2^L becomes negligible, and the behaviour of Σ_{ij} can be understood from the constant ν expressions for the noise terms, eqs. (4.23)–(4.25). The late time ratio of noise terms is given by $\Sigma_{\phi\phi} : |\operatorname{Re}(\Sigma_{\phi\pi})| : \Sigma_{\pi\pi} \to 1 : (\nu_2 - \frac{3}{2}) : (\nu_2 - \frac{3}{2})^2$ i.e. the values of Σ_{ij} are higher than their pre-transition counterparts in the SR-I phase. This matches the behaviour of the numerically calculated noise matrix elements for the modified KKLT potential with a Gaussian bump shown in figure 6.

The key results of our analytical calculations for an instantaneous transition are:

1. The expressions for the noise matrix elements in the pre-transition epoch are given by eqs. (4.23)–(4.25) with $\nu = \nu_1$, resulting in the ratios

$$\Sigma_{\phi\phi} : |\operatorname{Re}(\Sigma_{\phi\pi})| : \Sigma_{\pi\pi} \to 1 : \left(\nu_1 - \frac{3}{2}\right) : \left(\nu_1 - \frac{3}{2}\right)^2.$$
(4.72)

2. Immediately after the transition, $\Sigma_{ij} \propto e^{2\mathcal{A}N_e}$, and

$$\Sigma_{\phi\phi} : |\operatorname{Re}(\Sigma_{\phi\pi})| : \Sigma_{\pi\pi} \to 1 : \mathcal{A} : \mathcal{A}^2.$$
(4.73)

3. At sufficiently late times, the noise terms are again given by eqs. (4.23)–(4.25), but with $\nu = \nu_2$, yielding the ratios

$$\Sigma_{\phi\phi} : |\operatorname{Re}(\Sigma_{\phi\pi})| : \Sigma_{\pi\pi} \to 1 : \left(\nu_2 - \frac{3}{2}\right) : \left(\nu_2 - \frac{3}{2}\right)^2.$$
 (4.74)

Comparing figure 8 with figure 6, we see that the analytical treatment assuming an instantaneous transition between two constant values of ν , ν_1 and ν_2 (Case 2) captures most of the asymptotic properties of Σ_{ij} for a potential with a PBH forming feature. This is in contrast to the pure dS transition (Case 1) which was not able to capture the late-time asymptote accurately, due to the assumption that $\nu_1 = \nu_2 = 3/2$. Furthermore, the pure dS transition also underestimates the momentum induced noise terms $\Sigma_{\phi\pi}$ and $\Sigma_{\pi\pi}$ in the SR-I phase, as discussed in section 4.1.

We conclude this section by briefly commenting on the degree of correlation between the field and momentum noise terms, ξ_{ϕ} and ξ_{π} , which can be quantified in terms of the ratio¹⁹

$$\gamma = \frac{|\operatorname{Re}(\Sigma_{\phi\pi})|}{\sqrt{\Sigma_{\phi\phi}\Sigma_{\pi\pi}}},\qquad(4.75)$$

where γ is related to the determinant of the noise matrix by $\gamma^2 = 1 - \det(\Sigma_{ij})/(\Sigma_{\phi\phi}\Sigma_{\pi\pi})$. The noise terms are maximally correlated if $\gamma = 1$, while $\gamma = 0$ implies that ξ_{ϕ} and ξ_{π} are independent (see ref. [80]). For featureless potentials, we find that $\gamma \simeq 1$ under the pure dS approximation, using eqs. (4.17)–(4.19), as well as under the SR approximations, using eqs. (4.23)–(4.25). For potentials with a PBH forming feature, we also find that $\gamma \simeq 1$ throughout the three asymptotic regimes²⁰ described by eqs. (4.72)–(4.74). This property of maximal correlation between the noise terms is a direct consequence of the fact that for $\sigma \ll 1$, the super-Hubble UV mode functions, ϕ_k , are frozen by the time they join the coarse-graining scale $k = \sigma a H$ (see refs. [71, 113] for a detailed discussion on the freezing behaviour of the UV modes). Consequently, we conclude that quantum diffusion can be assumed to be sourced by a single random noise term. Hence our analysis suggests that the dynamics during the three asymptotic regimes given in eqs. (4.17)–(4.19) can be described by a system with a single stochastic degree of freedom as suggested in refs. [68, 97, 114]. This will be discussed in our forthcoming paper [81].

¹⁹We thank David Wands for pointing out the relevance of calculating γ .

²⁰We find $\gamma \ll 1$ only for brief transient periods when the noise terms begin to rise after their exponential fall post transition.

5 Discussion

In section 4 we accurately calculated the stochastic noise matrix elements for a sharp transition from SR to USR, using both analytical and numerical techniques. Our ultimate aim is to determine the PDF of the number of e-folds, $P_{\Phi,\Pi}(\mathcal{N})$, by solving the adjoint Fokker-Planck eq. (3.19) (using appropriate boundary conditions) and then calculate the mass fraction of PBHs β_{PBH} . Using the Press-Schechter formalism [115], the PBH mass fraction is usually estimated by integrating the probability distribution of the coarse grained curvature perturbation, $P(\zeta_{cg})$, above the threshold for PBH formation, ζ_c . The PBH mass fraction in the Stochastic formalism is given as (see refs. [56, 57])

$$\beta(\Phi,\Pi) \equiv \int_{\zeta_c}^{\infty} P(\zeta_{\rm cg}) \,\mathrm{d}\zeta_{\rm cg} = \int_{\zeta_c + \langle \mathcal{N}(\Phi,\Pi) \rangle}^{\infty} P_{\Phi,\Pi}(\mathcal{N}) \,\mathrm{d}\mathcal{N}\,,\tag{5.1}$$

where the average number of e-folds, $\langle \mathcal{N}(\Phi, \Pi) \rangle$, can be obtained from eq. (3.18).

While this task is reserved for our upcoming paper, we expect that the sharp decline of the noise terms after the transition will decrease the amount of quantum diffusion of the IR fields across the PBH-forming feature. Therefore we expect the tail of the PDF to decline more rapidly than what is usually found using the pure dS approximation without any transitions. Indeed such behaviour of the PDF was found in ref. [97] which focused on a sharp transition in pure dS space using the linear potential model of Starobinsky [109]. Numerical simulations carried out in refs. [66, 70, 71] show that the canonical computation based on the pure dS noise terms without any transition typically leads to inaccurate estimates of the PBH abundance (over-estimates for some potentials and under-estimates for other potentials). However, it is important to study the relative contributions of the noise terms, Σ_{ij} , the potential, $V(\phi)$, and the boundary conditions to the PDF separately. An analytical approach is well-suited to this, and this is one of the primary goals of our upcoming paper.

In the following, we overview the outstanding complexities in accurately calculating the PBH mass fraction.

- Curvature perturbation vs density contrast. While the PBH mass fraction is often calculated from the PDF of the curvature perturbation using eq. (5.1), the criterion for PBH formation is most accurately formulated in terms of the non-linear density contrast δ_l , see e.g. refs. [39–41, 72, 116]. An accurate computation of the PDF of the density contrast needs the knowledge of all the higher order (*n*-point) connected correlators of the curvature perturbation, ζ . Therefore a high-precision calculation of the PBH mass fraction requires the joint probabilities rather than the one-point PDF, $P[\zeta]$ (see refs. [40, 72] for discussion of this issue).
- Gauge corrections. In this work we compute the mode functions $\{\phi_k, \pi_k\}$, and hence the noise correlators of $\{\hat{\xi}_{\phi}, \hat{\xi}_{\pi}\}$, in the spatially flat gauge, however the Langevin equations are written in the uniform-N gauge. This induces corrections to the noise terms that could be non-negligible when the slow-roll approximations are violated [61, 67, 68]. However refs. [61, 71] showed that the gauge corrections are negligible for $\sigma \ll 1$.
- Choice of coarse-graining parameter. In section 3, we mentioned that the coarse-graining parameter σ needs to be small enough, $\sigma \ll 1$, to ensure that the short-wavelength quantum fluctuations $\{\xi_{\phi}, \xi_{\pi}\}$ act as classical noise on the dynamics of the coarse-grained fields $\{\Phi, \Pi\}$. In fact, the physical results are expected to be independent of σ as long as

 $\sigma \gg e^{-1/(3\epsilon_H)}$ (see refs. [45, 48]). In our analysis, we have considered $\sigma = 0.01$ in order to account for substantial non-linearity in the evolution by including as many modes into the long-wavelength regime as possible without violating the stochastic nature of the noise terms (see refs. [71, 113]). Nevertheless, our results given in eqs. (4.72)–(4.74) demonstrate that the ratio of the noise terms are rather insensitive to the choice of σ . Numerical simulations of the stochastic dynamics carried out in refs. [71, 113] also indicate that the mass fraction of PBHs do not depend upon the particular choice for the value of σ , as long as it is not arbitrarily small.

- Effects of backreaction. We have calculated the noise matrix elements by treating the mode functions $\{\phi_k, \pi_k\}$ as linear perturbations in a deterministic (non-stochastic) inflationary background, as is the usual practice in perturbation theory. In stochastic inflation, the noise terms should in principle be evaluated in the stochastically evolving background of the coarse-grained IR fields $\{\Phi, \Pi\}$. However, numerical simulations demonstrate that such non-Markovian corrections due to the backreaction effects of the stochastic IR background are negligible for single field inflationary potentials with a large class of PBH forming features, such as a flat segment, an inflection point, or a bump/dip and hence can be safely ignored (see refs. [71, 113]).
- Classical δN formalism. The PDF of the comoving curvature perturbation can also be computed using the classical (non-linear) δN formalism developed in refs. [28, 75–78]. For potentials with a broad class of features, the non-perturbative non-Gaussianity induced by stochastic effects is usually expected to be dominant (see ref. [71]). The relative significance of the stochastic effects can be inferred from a classicality criterion, expressed in terms of the parameter $j_{cl} = |V(\phi)\eta_H/(24\pi^2 m_p^4 \epsilon_H)|$, obtained from a saddle-point approximation of the stochastic integrals [48]. For a potential with $j_{cl} \ll 1$, stochastic effects can safely be ignored (except in the far tail of the PDF). Hence, it is possible to construct potentials for which the stochastic effects are specifically negligible by design, while the classical non-linearities can be significant (see ref. [51]). In such cases the classical δN formalism can be successfully used to compute the PDF (see also refs. [53, 55]).
- Loop corrections. As outlined in section 2, to generate a non-negligible abundance of PBHs, the power spectrum of the primordial scalar perturbations on small scales has to be roughly seven orders of magnitude larger than its measured value on CMB scales, *i.e* $\mathcal{P}_{\zeta}(k) \simeq 10^{-2}$. Therefore it is crucial to ask whether such a large enhancement of power at smaller scales might induce non-negligible loop corrections to the CMB scale power spectrum at higher orders in perturbation theory. Recently such calculations were carried out perturbatively in refs. [117-121]. These papers find that the one-loop corrections to the CMB scale power spectrum can become significant if $\mathcal{P}_{\zeta}(k) \gtrsim \mathcal{O}(10^{-2})$. This appears to rule out the formation of an interesting abundance of PBHs in single field inflationary models. However this conclusion is currently the subject of debate. It has been argued in refs. [122-124] that the loop corrections are negligible if the transition from USR to the subsequent attractor phase is smooth enough. Nevertheless we stress that the amplitude of the small scale power spectrum required to form an interesting abundance of PBHs depends on the PDF of the perturbations. The standard value, $\mathcal{P}_{\zeta}(k) \simeq 10^{-2}$, assumes the PDF is Gaussian. This amplitude, and therefore the size of the one-loop corrections to the CMB scale power spectrum, will be different for the non-Gaussian tail usually generated by stochastic effects.

6 Conclusions

PBHs can form due to the gravitational collapse of large fluctuations, in the non-perturbative tail of the PDF. An accurate calculation of the full PDF of the perturbations is therefore crucial to calculate their abundance. Stochastic inflation is a powerful framework for computing the cosmological correlators non-perturbatively. Using the stochastic $\delta \mathcal{N}$ formalism, the full PDF can be calculated from the first-passage statistics of the number of e-folds, \mathcal{N} , during inflation. However to correctly account for the back-reaction effect of small scale (UV) fluctuations, φ_k , on the long wavelength coarse-grained (IR) field, Φ , it is essential to compute the noise matrix elements accurately. Since most single field inflationary potentials with a PBH-forming feature violate the slow-roll conditions, a precise calculation of the stochastic noise matrix elements beyond slow roll is required. In this paper we have done this, both analytically and numerically.

After a brief overview of single-field inflationary dynamics beyond slow roll in section 2, we set up the relevant equations underlying the stochastic inflation formalism in section 3. There are two key steps to using the stochastic inflation formalism to calculate the full PDF of fluctuations in slow-roll violating, PBH-producing, models:

- 1. compute the statistics of both field and momentum-induced noise terms $\{\xi_{\phi}, \xi_{\pi}\},\$
- 2. set up the Langevin equations (or, the corresponding adjoint Fokker-Planck equation) without ignoring the inflaton IR momentum Π .

We have addressed the first issue here and will focus on the second in a forthcoming paper [81].

In section 4 we computed the matrix elements, Σ_{ij} , defined in eq. (3.15), which characterise the statistics of the field and momentum noise terms. First, in section 4.1, we derived expressions for Σ_{ij} for featureless potentials where the slow-roll conditions ϵ_H , $\eta_H \ll 1$ remain valid until almost the end of inflation. We compared the results of our analytical calculations, eqs. (4.23)–(4.25), and numerical calculations (shown in figure 4) for the KKLT potential, eq. (4.26), with the corresponding estimates under the pure de Sitter approximation, eqs. (4.17)–(4.19). We found that the dS approximation underestimates the momentum induced noise terms, $\Sigma_{\phi\pi}$ and $\Sigma_{\pi\pi}$, by several orders of magnitude, even for a slow-roll potential.

In section 4.2, we calculated the noise matrix elements for single field inflationary potentials with a slow-roll violating, PBH-forming feature. For the numerical calculations we used the modified KKLT potential featuring a tiny Gaussian bump, eq. (4.28), as a prototypical single-field PBH-forming potential. This potential has a sharp transition from the CMB scale SR-I phase to the subsequent near-USR phase, as shown in figure 5. Our results, plotted in figures 6 and 7, show that following the transition, Σ_{ij} falls exponentially and the momentum induced noise terms dominate the field noise with the hierarchy $\Sigma_{\pi\pi} > |\text{Re}(\Sigma_{\phi\pi})| > \Sigma_{\phi\phi}$. Subsequently, the noise terms return back to their original hierarchy, before growing and tending to constant values.

To understand the asymptotic behaviour of the noise terms, we calculated the noise matrix elements analytically using several approximations. Firstly we treated the sharp transition between the SR-I phase and the subsequent near-USR phase as instantaneous, and assumed the second slow-roll parameter η_H to be piece-wise constant. By solving the Mukhanov-Sasaki equation, eq. (4.7), analytically for a constant η_H (and hence a constant ν), and applying the Israel junction matching conditions across the transition, we computed the noise matrix elements shown in the right panel of figure 8. We found that the behaviour of the noise terms post transition is governed by a single parameter, namely the transition strength, \mathcal{A} , which is defined as the difference between the values of the second slow-roll parameter η_H post- and pre-transition as given in eq. (4.38). This analytical computation based on an instantaneous transition $\nu : \nu_1 \to \nu_2$ captures the key features of the noise matrix elements for potentials with a smooth feature (see eqs. (4.72)–(4.74)).

We also compared our calculations with those for an instantaneous transition using the pure dS approximation, i.e. $\nu_1 = \nu_2 = 3/2$, which was carried out in ref. [97] for the Starobinsky model [109], see the left panel of figure 8. We found that the dS approximation underestimates the noise terms not only in the SR-I phase (as mentioned before), but also a long time after the transition. However, the pure dS-transition estimates are a good approximation to the behaviour of the noise terms immediately after the transition. Furthermore, for potentials with a pure 'flat' feature (as shown in figure 2) rather than a bump, the dS-transition approximations work quite well.

In our analytical solutions of the MS equation, we focused on a single sharp transition, T-I. In this case the effective mass term z''/z remains almost constant throughout the USR, T-I and CR phases, as can be seen in figure 5. Therefore the expression for the mode functions remains the same after the second transition, due to the Wands duality as discussed in section 4.2. This is a common characteristic of a broad class of single field inflationary models with a PBH forming feature (see ref. [87]). Our analytical scheme can be extended to situations where the effective mass term z''/z undergoes two or more sharp transitions. We provide the relevant analytical expressions for the mode functions in this case in appendix E.

We conclude that in order to accurately determine the PDF of the curvature perturbation, $P[\zeta]$, beyond slow roll, one must solve the adjoint Fokker-Planck equation (3.19) using the correct asymptotic forms of the noise matrix elements given in eqs. (4.72)–(4.74). Our upcoming paper [81] will be dedicated to developing analytical and semi-analytical techniques to solve the adjoint FPE with the knowledge of Σ_{ij} obtained here. While numerical simulations of the Langevin equations can be carried out in full generality, they are often quite time-consuming, and demand large computational resources. Furthermore, the analytical approach will allow us to calculate the asymptotic behaviour of the PDF and study the effects of the noise terms, Σ_{ij} , the potential, $V(\phi)$, and the boundary conditions on the PDF separately. It is therefore complementary to the fully numerical simulations of the Langevin equations discussed in refs. [66, 70, 71, 74].

Acknowledgments

We would like to thank David Wands and Antonio Riotto for helpful comments. SSM, EJC and AMG are supported by a STFC Consolidated Grant [Grant No. ST/T000732/1], and EJC by a Leverhulme Research Fellowship [RF-2021 312]. For the purpose of open access, the authors have applied a CC BY public copyright licence to any Author Accepted Manuscript version arising.

Data availability statement. This work is entirely theoretical and has no associated data.

A Mukhanov-Sasaki equation in spatially flat gauge

In this appendix we outline the derivation of the Mukhanov-Sasaki equation in a spatially flat gauge, which we solved for in section 4. Starting from the action of a canonical scalar field minimally coupled to gravity

$$S[g_{\mu\nu},\phi] = \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} \left(\frac{m_p^2}{2} R - \frac{1}{2} \partial_\mu \phi \,\partial_\nu \phi \,g^{\mu\nu} - V(\phi) \right),$$

we consider linear field fluctuations $\phi(t, \vec{x}) = \bar{\phi}(t) + \delta \phi(t, \vec{x})$ and the linearly perturbed ADM metric in the spatially flat gauge

$$\mathrm{d}s^2 = -\alpha^2 \,\mathrm{d}t^2 + a^2(t)\,\delta_{ij} \Big(\mathrm{d}x^i + \beta^i \,\mathrm{d}t\Big) \Big(\mathrm{d}x^j + \beta^j \,\mathrm{d}t\Big)\,,$$

where $\alpha = 1 + \delta \alpha$ and β^i are the lapse and shift functions. Imposing the GR momentum and Hamiltonian constraints, one obtains (see ref. [125])

$$\delta \alpha = \sqrt{\frac{\epsilon_H}{2}} \frac{\delta \phi}{m_p}, \quad \partial_i \beta^i = -\epsilon_H \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{2\epsilon_H}} \frac{\delta \phi}{m_p} \right).$$

Incorporating the above expressions into the action, expanding around the background, the quadratic action for $\delta\phi$ fluctuations (in the spatially flat gauge) is [31, 125]

$$S[\delta\phi] = \frac{1}{2} \int dt d^3 \vec{x} \ a^3 \left[\dot{\delta\phi}^2 - \frac{(\partial_i \delta\phi)^2}{a^2} - \left(\frac{d^2 V(\phi)}{d\phi^2} + 2 \epsilon_H H^2 \left(2 \eta_H - \epsilon_H - 3 \right) \right) \delta\phi^2 \right].$$
(A.1)

The Euler-Lagrange equation for $\delta \phi$ is given by

$$\ddot{\delta\phi} + 3H\,\dot{\delta\phi} - \frac{\nabla^2}{a^2}\,\delta\phi - a^2H^2\left(2 - \epsilon_H - \frac{1}{H^2}\,\frac{\mathrm{d}^2V(\phi)}{\mathrm{d}\phi^2} - \frac{2\dot{\bar{\phi}}}{m_p^2H^3}\,\frac{\mathrm{d}V(\phi)}{\mathrm{d}\phi} - \frac{\dot{\bar{\phi}}^2}{m_p^4H^4}\,V\right)\delta\phi = 0\,. \tag{A.2}$$

With the change of variables $v=a\,\delta\phi,$ the Fourier modes v_k satisfy the Mukhanov-Sasaki equation

$$v_k'' + \left(k^2 - \frac{z''}{z}\right)v_k = 0,$$

with

$$\frac{z''}{z} \equiv a^2 H^2 \left(2 - \epsilon_H - \frac{1}{H^2} \frac{\mathrm{d}^2 V(\phi)}{\mathrm{d}\phi^2} - \frac{2\dot{\phi}}{m_p^2 H^3} \frac{\mathrm{d}V(\phi)}{\mathrm{d}\phi} - \frac{\dot{\phi}^2}{m_p^4 H^4} V \right),\tag{A.3}$$

$$= (aH)^{2} \left[2 + 2\epsilon_{H} - 3\eta_{H} + 2\epsilon_{H}^{2} + \eta_{H}^{2} - 3\epsilon_{H}\eta_{H} - \frac{1}{aH}\eta_{H}^{\prime} \right].$$
(A.4)

B Analytical solution of the Mukhanov-Sasaki equation

For the featureless slow-roll potentials that we study in section 4.1, ν^2 is greater than or equal to 9/4 and effectively constant. In this case the Mukhanov-Sasaki (MS) eq. (4.1) can be written as a Bessel equation with constant ν , which can be solved analytically (see refs. [126, 127]). In this appendix we present this solution in terms of both Hankel functions (appendix B.1) and Bessel functions (appendix B.2). For the analytical treatment, assuming $(aH)^{-2} z''/z = \nu^2 - 1/4$ to be a constant, the Mukhanov-Sasaki (MS) eq. (4.1) can be written as

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}^2 v_k}{\mathrm{d}\tau^2} + \left[k^2 - \frac{\nu^2 - \frac{1}{4}}{\tau^2}\right] v_k = 0, \qquad (B.1)$$

using the new time variable, T, defined in eq. (4.6)

$$T = -k\tau = \frac{k}{a H}$$

All modes undergo Hubble-exit at T = 1, with sub (super)-Hubble scales corresponding to $T \gg (\ll)1$. In terms of this new time variable, the MS equation takes the form

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}^2 v_k}{\mathrm{d}T^2} + \left[1 - \frac{\nu^2 - \frac{1}{4}}{T^2}\right] v_k = 0$$

Using the variable redefinition $F = v_k/\sqrt{T}$, this equation can be transformed into the more familiar Bessel equation:

$$\frac{d^2 F}{dT^2} + \frac{1}{T} \frac{dF}{dT} + \left[1 - \frac{\nu^2}{T^2}\right] F = 0.$$
 (B.2)

The general solution to eq. (B.2) (when ν is not an integer) can be written either as a linear combination of Hankel functions of the first and second kind $\{H_{\nu}^{(1)}(T), H_{\nu}^{(2)}(T)\}$ or as a linear combination of positive and negative order $(\pm \nu)$ Bessel functions of the first kind $\{J_{-\nu}(T), J_{\nu}(T)\}$. The functions are related by [126]

$$H_{\nu}^{(1,2)}(T) = \frac{\pm J_{-\nu}(T) \mp e^{\mp i\pi\nu} J_{\nu}(T)}{i\sin(\pi\nu)}.$$
 (B.3)

B.1 In terms of Hankel functions

The general solution to the Bessel eq. (B.2) in terms of the Hankel functions is given by

$$F(T) = C_1 H_{\nu}^{(1)}(T) + C_2 H_{\nu}^{(2)}(T), \qquad (B.4)$$

where the coefficients C_1 and C_2 are fixed by initial/boundary conditions. Hence the solution to the MS equation can be written as

$$v_k(T) = \sqrt{T} \left[C_1 H_{\nu}^{(1)}(T) + C_2 H_{\nu}^{(2)}(T) \right].$$
(B.5)

In the sub-Hubble limit, $T \gg 1$, the Hankel functions take the form

$$H_{\nu}^{(1)}(T)\Big|_{T\to\infty} \simeq \sqrt{\frac{2}{\pi}} \frac{1}{\sqrt{T}} e^{iT} e^{-i\left(\nu + \frac{1}{2}\right)\frac{\pi}{2}}, \tag{B.6}$$

$$H_{\nu}^{(2)}(T)\Big|_{T\to\infty} \simeq \sqrt{\frac{2}{\pi}} \frac{1}{\sqrt{T}} e^{-iT} e^{i\left(\nu + \frac{1}{2}\right)\frac{\pi}{2}},\tag{B.7}$$

while in the super-Hubble limit, $T \ll 1$, the Hankel functions take the form

$$H_{\nu}^{(1)}(T)\Big|_{T\to 0} \simeq \sqrt{\frac{2}{\pi}} e^{-i\frac{\pi}{2}} 2^{\nu-\frac{3}{2}} \frac{\Gamma(\nu)}{\Gamma(\frac{3}{2})} T^{-\nu}, \qquad (B.8)$$

$$H_{\nu}^{(2)}(T)\Big|_{T\to 0} \simeq -\sqrt{\frac{2}{\pi}} e^{-i\frac{\pi}{2}} 2^{\nu-\frac{3}{2}} \frac{\Gamma(\nu)}{\Gamma(\frac{3}{2})} T^{-\nu}.$$
 (B.9)

The Bunch-Davies conditions, eq. (4.5), for the mode functions take the form

$$v_k(T)\Big|_{T\to\infty} \to \frac{1}{\sqrt{2k}} e^{iT} = \sqrt{T} C_1 H_\nu^{(1)}(T)\Big|_{T\to\infty},$$

which yields

$$C_1 = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2k}} \sqrt{\frac{\pi}{2}} e^{i\left(\nu + \frac{1}{2}\right)\frac{\pi}{2}}, \text{ and } C_2 = 0,$$

and hence the final expression for the mode functions becomes

$$v_k(T) = e^{i\left(\nu + \frac{1}{2}\right)\frac{\pi}{2}} \sqrt{\frac{\pi}{2}} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2k}} \sqrt{T} H_{\nu}^{(1)}(T) \,. \tag{B.10}$$

B.2 In terms of Bessel functions

The general solution to the Bessel equation, eq. (B.2), in terms of the Bessel functions of the first kind of order $\pm \nu$ is given by

$$F(T) = \sqrt{\frac{\pi}{2}} \frac{1}{\sin(\pi\nu)} \left[C_+ J_{-\nu}(T) + C_- J_{\nu}(T) \right], \qquad (B.11)$$

where the coefficients C_+ and C_- are again to be fixed by initial/boundary conditions. Hence the solution to MS eq. (4.1) can be written as

$$v_k(T) = \sqrt{\frac{\pi}{2}} \frac{1}{\sin(\pi\nu)} \sqrt{T} \left[C_+ J_{-\nu}(T) + C_- J_{\nu}(T) \right].$$
(B.12)

Imposing Bunch-Davies initial conditions, eq. (4.5), we get

$$C_{+} = -i \frac{1}{\sqrt{2k}} e^{i\left(\nu + \frac{1}{2}\right)\frac{\pi}{2}}, \text{ and } C_{-} = i \frac{1}{\sqrt{2k}} e^{i\left(\nu + \frac{1}{2}\right)\frac{\pi}{2}} e^{-i\pi\nu},$$

and hence the final expression for the mode functions becomes

$$v_k(T) = -i\sqrt{\frac{\pi}{2}} \frac{e^{i\left(\nu + \frac{1}{2}\right)\frac{\pi}{2}}}{\sin\left(\pi\nu\right)} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2k}} \sqrt{T} \Big[J_{-\nu}(T) - e^{-i\pi\nu} J_{\nu}(T) \Big].$$
(B.13)

With the help of eq. (B.3), we see by equating eqs. (B.5) and (B.12), that the relation between the Hankel coefficients $\{C_1, C_2\}$ and Bessel coefficients $\{C_+, C_-\}$ is given by

$$C_1 = i\sqrt{\frac{\pi}{2}} \left[\frac{C_+ + e^{-i2\pi\nu}C_-}{1 - e^{-i2\pi\nu}} \right]; \quad C_2 = i\sqrt{\frac{\pi}{2}} \left[\frac{C_+ + e^{i\pi\nu}C_-}{1 - e^{-i2\pi\nu}} \right] e^{-i2\pi\nu}.$$
 (B.14)

In this work, we express analytical solutions of the MS equation in terms of Hankel functions. However, our results can alternatively be easily expressed in terms of the Bessel functions by using eqs. (B.3) and (B.14).

C Super-Hubble expansion of the noise matrix elements

The full expressions for the noise matrix elements are given in eqs. (4.42)–(4.44). Since we need to evaluate Σ_{ij} in the super-Hubble limit with $T = \sigma \ll 1$, here we provide expressions for the noise terms, derived from the mode functions, $v_k(T)$, in eq. (4.20), as a series expansion in T, up to $\mathcal{O}(T^4)$, for constant ν :

$$\Sigma_{\phi\phi} = 2^{2\left(\nu - \frac{3}{2}\right)} \left[\frac{\Gamma(\nu)}{\Gamma(3/2)} \right]^2 \left(\frac{H}{2\pi} \right)^2 T^{2\left(-\nu + \frac{3}{2}\right)} \left[1 + \frac{1}{2\left(-1 + \nu\right)} T^2 + \frac{\nu - 3/2}{8\left(-2 + \nu\right)\left(-1 + \nu\right)^2} T^4 + \left(2 + \frac{T^2}{\left(1 - \nu^2\right)} \right) \frac{2^{-2\nu} \Gamma[-\nu]}{\Gamma[\nu]} \cos\left(\pi\nu\right) T^{2\nu} + \mathcal{O}(T^{4+2\nu}) \right],$$
(C.1)

$$\operatorname{Re}(\Sigma_{\pi\phi}) = -2^{2\left(\nu - \frac{3}{2}\right)} \left[\frac{\Gamma(\nu)}{\Gamma(3/2)} \right]^2 \left(\frac{H}{2\pi} \right)^2 T^{2\left(-\nu + \frac{3}{2}\right)} \left[\left(\frac{3}{2} - \nu \right) + \frac{5 - 2\nu}{4\left(-1 + \nu\right)} T^2 \right. \\ \left. + \frac{-7 + 2\nu}{16\left(-2 + \nu\right)\left(-1 + \nu\right)^2} \left(\frac{3}{2} - \nu \right) T^4 \right. \\ \left. - \left(3 + \frac{5}{2\left(-1 + \nu^2\right)} T^2 \right) \frac{2^{-2\nu}}{\Gamma(1 + \nu)^2} \pi \nu \cot\left(\pi\nu\right) T^{2\nu} + \mathcal{O}(T^{4+2\nu}) \right],$$
(C.2)

$$\Sigma_{\pi\pi} = 2^{2\left(\nu - \frac{3}{2}\right)} \left[\frac{\Gamma(\nu)}{\Gamma(3/2)} \right]^{2} \left(\frac{H}{2\pi} \right)^{2} T^{2\left(-\nu + \frac{3}{2}\right)} \left[\left(-\nu + \frac{3}{2} \right)^{2} + \left(-\nu + \frac{3}{2} \right) \left(\frac{-2\nu + 7}{4\left(-\nu + 1\right)} \right) T^{2} + \left(\frac{131 - 2\nu(83 - 34\nu + 4\nu^{2})}{64\left(-\nu + 2\right)\left(-1 + \nu\right)^{2}} \right) T^{4} - \left(\frac{-4\nu^{2} + 9}{2} + \frac{21 + 4\nu^{2}}{4\left(-1 + \nu^{2}\right)} T^{2} \right) \frac{2^{-2\nu}}{\Gamma[1 + \nu]^{2}} \pi\nu \cot(\pi\nu) T^{2\nu} + \mathcal{O}(T^{4 + 2\nu}) \right].$$
(C.3)

The above expressions for Σ_{ij} are valid for any value of ν , and accurately reproduce the de Sitter results for $\nu = 3/2$. We have verified that there are no higher order corrections in the dS limit.

D Functional form of z''/z during sharp transitions

In this appendix we derive the analytic expressions for z''/z for the instantaneous transitions that we use in section 4.2.2. Under the quasi-dS approximation, $\epsilon_H \simeq 0$, the effective mass term in the MS eq. (4.1) becomes

$$\frac{z''}{z}\tau^2 \simeq 2 - 3\eta_H + \eta_H^2 + \tau \,\frac{d\eta_H}{d\tau}\,, \tag{D.1}$$

where this final form of z''/z depends upon the expression for the second slow-roll parameter $\eta_H(\tau)$. In the following, we will assume that η_H is piece-wise constant and makes instantaneous, but finite transitions. We will begin with the simplest case where η_H makes only one transition and later generalise this to the case of two or more successive transitions.

D.1 Single instantaneous transition

Suppose that during inflation, the second SR parameter makes a sharp transition from $\eta_H = \eta_1 \rightarrow \eta_2$ at time $\tau = \tau_1$. In this case η_H can be written as

$$\eta_H(\tau) = \eta_1 + (\eta_2 - \eta_1) \Theta(\tau - \tau_1).$$
 (D.2)

Using eq. (D.1), we obtain the following expression for z''/z

$$\frac{z''}{z}\tau^2 = \mathcal{A}\tau\,\delta_D(\tau-\tau_1) + \nu_1^2 - \frac{1}{4} + \left(\nu_2^2 - \nu_1^2\right)\Theta(\tau-\tau_1)\,,\tag{D.3}$$

with $\mathcal{A} = \eta_2 - \eta_1$ and $\nu_{1,2}^2 = (9/4) - 3\eta_{1,2} + \eta_{1,2}^2$. For $\eta_1 = 0$ and $\eta_2 = +3$, the system reduces to the case of pure de Sitter SR \rightarrow USR transition, where $\nu_1^2 = \nu_2^2 = 9/4$ and $\mathcal{A} = +3$.

D.2 Two successive instantaneous transitions

If the second SR parameter makes another sharp transition from $\eta_H = \eta_2 \rightarrow \eta_3$ at time $\tau = \tau_2$, then η_H can be written as

$$\eta_H(\tau) = \eta_1 + (\eta_2 - \eta_1) \Theta(\tau - \tau_1) + (\eta_3 - \eta_2) \Theta(\tau - \tau_2).$$
 (D.4)

Once again using eq. (D.1), we now obtain

$$\frac{z''}{z}\tau^2 = \nu_1^2 - \frac{1}{4} + \left(\nu_2^2 - \nu_1^2\right)\Theta(\tau - \tau_1) + \left(\nu_3^2 - \nu_2^2\right)\Theta(\tau - \tau_2) + \mathcal{A}_1\tau\,\delta_D(\tau - \tau_1) + \mathcal{A}_2\tau\,\delta_D(\tau - \tau_2)\,,\tag{D.5}$$

with $\mathcal{A}_{1,2} = \eta_{2,3} - \eta_{1,2}$ and $\nu_{1,2,3}^2 = (9/4) - 3\eta_{1,2,3} + \eta_{1,2,3}^2$.

D.3 Generalising to multiple instantaneous transitions

If the inflaton potential exhibits a number of tiny features/modulations, then the second SR parameter η_H might undergo a number of successive transitions before the end of inflation. Assuming each transition to be instantaneous for ease of analytical treatment, we can write the following general expression for η_H

$$\eta_H(\tau) = \eta_1 + (\eta_2 - \eta_1) \Theta(\tau - \tau_1) + (\eta_3 - \eta_2) \Theta(\tau - \tau_2) + \ldots + (\eta_{n+1} - \eta_n) \Theta(\tau - \tau_n),$$
(D.6)

where 'n' is the total number of instantaneous transitions occurring at times $\tau_1, \tau_2, \ldots, \tau_n$. In this case, the expression for z''/z becomes

$$\frac{z''}{z}\tau^{2} = \nu_{1}^{2} - \frac{1}{4} + \left(\nu_{2}^{2} - \nu_{1}^{2}\right)\Theta(\tau - \tau_{1}) + \left(\nu_{3}^{2} - \nu_{2}^{2}\right)\Theta(\tau - \tau_{2}) + \dots + \left(\nu_{n+1}^{2} - \nu_{n}^{2}\right)\Theta(\tau - \tau_{n}) + \mathcal{A}_{1}\tau\,\delta_{D}(\tau - \tau_{1}) + \mathcal{A}_{2}\tau\,\delta_{D}(\tau - \tau_{2}) + \dots + \mathcal{A}_{n}\tau\,\delta_{D}(\tau - \tau_{n}),$$
(D.7)

where $A_n = \eta_{n+1} - \eta_n$ and $\nu_n^2 = (9/4) - 3\eta_n + \eta_n^2$.

In compact notation, we can write the general expressions for η_H and z''/z for 'n' successive instantaneous transitions as

$$\eta_H(\tau) = \eta_1 + \sum_{i=1}^n \left[\eta_{i+1} - \eta_i \right] \Theta(\tau - \tau_i) , \qquad (D.8)$$

$$\frac{z''}{z}\tau^2 = \nu_1^2 - \frac{1}{4} + \sum_{i=1}^n \left[\nu_{i+1}^2 - \nu_i^2\right]\Theta(\tau - \tau_i) + \mathcal{A}_i \tau \,\delta_D(\tau - \tau_i)\,,\tag{D.9}$$

where $\mathcal{A}_i = \eta_{i+1} - \eta_i$, $\nu_i^2 = (9/4) - 3\eta_i + \eta_i^2$.

E Noise matrix elements for two successive instantaneous transitions

In this appendix, we present the full calculations for the mode functions in a closed form for the case of two successive instantaneous transitions during inflation. This generalises the results presented in Case 1 (Pure dS limit) and Case 2 (transition between two different values $\nu_1 \rightarrow \nu_2$) of section 4.2.2.

E.1 Pure dS limit

For two successive instantaneous transitions $SR \rightarrow USR \rightarrow SR$ in the pure dS limit,²¹ the effective mass term in the MS equation takes the form

$$\frac{z''}{z}\tau^2 = \mathcal{A}\tau \left[\delta_D(\tau - \tau_1) - \delta_D(\tau - \tau_2)\right] + 2, \qquad (E.1)$$

where τ_1 is the transition time from SR to USR and τ_2 is the transition time from USR back to SR. $\mathcal{A} = +3$ is the strength of the transition, as discussed before

The MS (complex) mode functions generalise those derived in eq. (4.46) and are given by

$$v_{k}(T) \equiv \begin{cases} v_{k}^{E}(T) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2k}} \left(1 + \frac{i}{T} \right) e^{iT}, & T_{2} < T_{1} < T, \\ v_{k}^{I}(T) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2k}} \left[C_{1}^{I} \left(1 + \frac{i}{T} \right) e^{iT} + C_{2}^{I} \left(1 - \frac{i}{T} \right) e^{-iT} \right], & T_{2} < T < T_{1}, \\ v_{k}^{L}(T) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2k}} \left[C_{1}^{L} \left(1 + \frac{i}{T} \right) e^{iT} + C_{2}^{L} \left(1 - \frac{i}{T} \right) e^{-iT} \right], & T < T_{2} < T_{1}, \end{cases}$$
(E.2)

and the derivatives of the mode functions generalise those derived in eq. (4.47) and are given by

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}v_k}{\mathrm{d}T} \equiv \begin{cases} \frac{\mathrm{d}v_k^E}{\mathrm{d}T} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2k}} \left[-\frac{1}{T} + i\left(1 - \frac{1}{T^2}\right) \right] e^{iT}, & T_2 < T_1 < T, \\ \frac{\mathrm{d}v_k}{\mathrm{d}T} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2k}} \left[C_1^I \left[-\frac{1}{T} + i\left(1 - \frac{1}{T^2}\right) \right] e^{iT} + C_2^I \left[-\frac{1}{T} - i\left(1 - \frac{1}{T^2}\right) \right] e^{-iT} \right], & T_2 < T < T_1, \\ \frac{\mathrm{d}v_k^L}{\mathrm{d}T} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2k}} \left[C_1^L \left[-\frac{1}{T} + i\left(1 - \frac{1}{T^2}\right) \right] e^{iT} + C_2^L \left[-\frac{1}{T} - i\left(1 - \frac{1}{T^2}\right) \right] e^{-iT} \right], & T < T_2 < T_1. \end{cases}$$

$$(E.3)$$

Here the superscripts E', I' and L' stand for early, intermediate and late respectively. After implementing the Israel junction matching conditions, we obtain the final expressions for the mode functions

$$C_1^L = \frac{d_3 b_4 - d_4 b_3}{a_3 b_4 - a_4 b_3}, \quad C_2^L = \frac{d_4 a_3 - d_3 a_4}{a_3 b_4 - a_4 b_3}, \quad (E.4)$$

where

$$a_3 = T_2 + i \,, \tag{E.5}$$

$$b_3 = (T_2 - i) e^{-i 2T_2}, \qquad (E.6)$$

$$a_4 = (\mathcal{A} - 1) T_2 + i \left(T_2^2 - 1 + \mathcal{A} \right), \tag{E.7}$$

$$b_4 = (\mathcal{A} - 1) T_2 - i \left(T_2^2 - 1 + \mathcal{A} \right) e^{-i 2T_2}, \qquad (E.8)$$

$$d_3 = (T_2 + i) C_1^I + (T_2 - i) e^{-i 2T_2} C_2^I, \qquad (E.9)$$

$$d_4 = \left[T_2 - i\left(T_2^2 - 1\right)\right]C_1^I + \left[T_2 + i\left(T_2^2 - 1\right)\right]C_2^I, \qquad (E.10)$$

and the intermediate transition coefficients C_1^I and C_2^I are just α_k and β_k , respectively, derived previously in eqs. (4.59) and (4.60).

 $^{^{21}}$ See ref. [12] for an extension of the Starobinsky model [109] featuring two successive transitions in the context of PBH formation.

E.2 $\nu_1 \rightarrow \nu_2 \rightarrow \nu_3$

In case of two successive instantaneous transitions from $\nu_1 \rightarrow \nu_2 \rightarrow \nu_3$, the effective mass term in the MS equation takes the form

$$\frac{z''}{z}\tau^2 = \nu_1^2 - \frac{1}{4} + \left(\nu_2^2 - \nu_1^2\right)\Theta(\tau - \tau_1) + \left(\nu_3^2 - \nu_2^2\right)\Theta(\tau - \tau_2) + \mathcal{A}_1\tau\,\delta_D(\tau - \tau_1) + \mathcal{A}_2\tau\,\delta_D(\tau - \tau_2)\,,\tag{E.11}$$

where τ_1 is the transition time from $\nu_1 \rightarrow \nu_2$ and τ_2 is the transition time from $\nu_2 \rightarrow \nu_3$. $\mathcal{A}_1, \mathcal{A}_2$ are the strengths of the first and second transitions respectively.

The MS (complex) mode functions and their derivatives generalise those derived in eqs. (4.61) and (4.62) to yield

$$v_{k}(T) \equiv \begin{cases} v_{k}^{E}(T) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2k}} \sqrt{\frac{\pi}{2}} \sqrt{T} H_{\nu_{1}}^{(1)}(T) e^{i\left(\nu_{1}+\frac{1}{2}\right)\frac{\pi}{2}}, & T_{2} < T_{1} < T, \\ v_{k}^{I}(T) = \sqrt{T} \left[C_{1}^{I} H_{\nu_{2}}^{(1)}(T) + C_{2}^{I} H_{\nu_{2}}^{(2)}(T) \right], & T_{2} < T < T_{1}, \\ v_{k}^{L}(T) = \sqrt{T} \left[C_{1}^{L} H_{\nu_{3}}^{(1)}(T) + C_{2}^{L} H_{\nu_{3}}^{(2)}(T) \right], & T < T_{2} < T_{1}, \end{cases}$$
(E.12)

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\nu_{k}}{\mathrm{d}T} \equiv \begin{cases} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2k}} \sqrt{\frac{\pi}{2}} e^{i\left(\nu_{1}+\frac{1}{2}\right)\frac{\pi}{2}} \frac{1}{\sqrt{T}} \left[\left(\frac{1}{2}-\nu_{1}\right) H_{\nu_{1}}^{(1)}(T) + T H_{\nu_{1}-1}^{(1)}(T) \right], & T_{2} < T_{1} < T, \\ \frac{1}{\sqrt{T}} \left[C_{1}^{I} \left(\left(\frac{1}{2}-\nu_{2}\right) H_{\nu_{2}}^{(1)}(T) + T H_{\nu_{2}-1}^{(1)}(T) \right) + C_{2}^{I} \left(\left(\frac{1}{2}-\nu_{2}\right) H_{\nu_{2}}^{(2)}(T) + T H_{\nu_{2}-1}^{(2)}(T) \right) \right], & T_{2} < T < T_{1}, \\ \frac{1}{\sqrt{T}} \left[C_{1}^{L} \left(\left(\frac{1}{2}-\nu_{3}\right) H_{\nu_{3}}^{(1)}(T) + T H_{\nu_{3}-1}^{(1)}(T) \right) + C_{2}^{L} \left(\left(\frac{1}{2}-\nu_{3}\right) H_{\nu_{3}}^{(2)}(T) + T H_{\nu_{3}-1}^{(2)}(T) \right) \right], & T < T_{2} < T_{1}, \\ \end{cases}$$

$$(E.13)$$

The superscripts 'E', 'I' and 'L' again stand for early, intermediate and late respectively. After implementing the Israel junction matching conditions, we find the final expressions for the mode functions

$$C_1^L = \frac{d_3 \, b_4 - d_4 \, b_3}{a_3 \, b_4 - a_4 \, b_3}, \quad C_2^L = \frac{d_4 \, a_3 - d_3 \, a_4}{a_3 \, b_4 - a_4 \, b_3}, \tag{E.14}$$

where

$$a_3 = H_{\nu_3}^{(1)}(T_2) \,, \tag{E.15}$$

$$b_3 = H_{\nu_3}^{(2)}(T_2), \qquad (E.16)$$

$$a_4 = \left(\frac{1}{2} - \nu_3 - \mathcal{A}_2\right) H_{\nu_3}^{(1)}(T_2) + T_2 H_{\nu_3 - 1}^{(1)}(T_2), \qquad (E.17)$$

$$b_4 = \left(\frac{1}{2} - \nu_3 - \mathcal{A}_2\right) H_{\nu_3}^{(2)}(T_2) + T_2 H_{\nu_3 - 1}^{(2)}(T_2), \qquad (E.18)$$

$$d_3 = H_{\nu_2}^{(1)}(T_2) C_1^I + H_{\nu_2}^{(2)}(T_2) C_2^I, \qquad (E.19)$$

$$d_4 = \left[\left(\frac{1}{2} - \nu_2\right) H_{\nu_2}^{(1)}(T_2) + T_2 H_{\nu_2 - 1}^{(1)}(T_2) \right] C_1^I + \left[\left(\frac{1}{2} - \nu_2\right) H_{\nu_2}^{(2)}(T_2) + T_2 H_{\nu_2 - 1}^{(2)}(T_2) \right] C_2^I, \quad (E.20)$$

and the intermediate transition coefficients ${\cal C}_1^I$ and ${\cal C}_2^I$ are given by

$$C_1^I = \frac{d_1 \, b_2 - d_2 \, b_1}{a_1 \, b_2 - a_2 \, b_1} \,, \quad C_2^I = \frac{d_2 \, a_1 - d_1 \, a_2}{a_1 \, b_2 - a_2 \, b_1} \,, \tag{E.21}$$

where

$$a_1 = H_{\nu_2}^{(1)}(T_1) \,, \tag{E.22}$$

$$b_1 = H_{\nu_2}^{(2)}(T_1), \tag{E.23}$$

$$a_2 = \left(\frac{1}{2} - \nu_2 - \mathcal{A}_1\right) H_{\nu_2}^{(1)}(T_1) + T_1 H_{\nu_2 - 1}^{(1)}(T_1), \qquad (E.24)$$

$$b_2 = \left(\frac{1}{2} - \nu_2 - \mathcal{A}_1\right) H_{\nu_2}^{(2)}(T_1) + T_1 H_{\nu_2 - 1}^{(2)}(T_1), \qquad (E.25)$$

$$d_1 = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2k}} \sqrt{\frac{\pi}{2}} e^{i\left(\nu_1 + \frac{1}{2}\right)\frac{\pi}{2}} H_{\nu_1}^{(1)}(T_1), \qquad (E.26)$$

$$d_2 = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2k}} \sqrt{\frac{\pi}{2}} e^{i\left(\nu_1 + \frac{1}{2}\right)\frac{\pi}{2}} \left[\left(\frac{1}{2} - \nu_1\right) H_{\nu_1}^{(1)}(T_1) + T_1 H_{\nu_1 - 1}^{(1)}(T_1) \right].$$
(E.27)

References

- G. Bertone and D. Hooper, *History of dark matter*, *Rev. Mod. Phys.* **90** (2018) 045002 [arXiv:1605.04909] [INSPIRE].
- P.J.E. Peebles, Growth of the nonbaryonic dark matter theory, Nature Astron. 1 (2017) 0057 [arXiv:1701.05837] [INSPIRE].
- [3] A.M. Green, Dark matter in astrophysics/cosmology, SciPost Phys. Lect. Notes 37 (2022) 1 [arXiv:2109.05854] [INSPIRE].
- [4] Y.B. Zel'dovich and I.D. Novikov, The Hypothesis of Cores Retarded during Expansion and the Hot Cosmological Model, Soviet Astron. AJ (Engl. Transl.) 10 (1967) 602 [INSPIRE].
- [5] S. Hawking, Gravitationally collapsed objects of very low mass, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 152 (1971) 75 [INSPIRE].
- [6] B.J. Carr and S.W. Hawking, Black holes in the early Universe, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 168 (1974) 399 [INSPIRE].
- [7] B.J. Carr, The Primordial black hole mass spectrum, Astrophys. J. 201 (1975) 1 [INSPIRE].
- [8] I.D. Novikov, A.G. Polnarev, A.A. Starobinsky and Y.B. Zeldovich, *Primordial Black Holes*, Astron. Astrophys. 80 (1979) 104.
- M. Sasaki, T. Suyama, T. Tanaka and S. Yokoyama, Primordial black holes perspectives in gravitational wave astronomy, Class. Quant. Grav. 35 (2018) 063001 [arXiv:1801.05235]
 [INSPIRE].
- [10] G.F. Chapline, Cosmological effects of primordial black holes, Nature 253 (1975) 251 [INSPIRE].
- [11] P. Meszaros, Primeval black holes and galaxy formation, Astron. Astrophys. 38 (1975) 5 [INSPIRE].
- [12] P. Ivanov, P. Naselsky and I. Novikov, Inflation and primordial black holes as dark matter, Phys. Rev. D 50 (1994) 7173 [INSPIRE].
- [13] B. Carr, F. Kuhnel and M. Sandstad, Primordial Black Holes as Dark Matter, Phys. Rev. D 94 (2016) 083504 [arXiv:1607.06077] [INSPIRE].
- [14] A.M. Green and B.J. Kavanagh, Primordial Black Holes as a dark matter candidate, J. Phys. G 48 (2021) 043001 [arXiv:2007.10722] [INSPIRE].
- [15] B. Carr and F. Kuhnel, Primordial Black Holes as Dark Matter: Recent Developments, Ann. Rev. Nucl. Part. Sci. 70 (2020) 355 [arXiv:2006.02838] [INSPIRE].

- [16] LIGO SCIENTIFIC and VIRGO collaborations, Observation of Gravitational Waves from a Binary Black Hole Merger, Phys. Rev. Lett. 116 (2016) 061102 [arXiv:1602.03837] [INSPIRE].
- [17] S. Bird et al., Did LIGO detect dark matter?, Phys. Rev. Lett. 116 (2016) 201301
 [arXiv:1603.00464] [INSPIRE].
- S. Clesse and J. García-Bellido, The clustering of massive Primordial Black Holes as Dark Matter: measuring their mass distribution with Advanced LIGO, Phys. Dark Univ. 15 (2017) 142 [arXiv:1603.05234] [INSPIRE].
- M. Sasaki, T. Suyama, T. Tanaka and S. Yokoyama, Primordial Black Hole Scenario for the Gravitational-Wave Event GW150914, Phys. Rev. Lett. 117 (2016) 061101 [Erratum ibid. 121 (2018) 059901] [arXiv:1603.08338] [INSPIRE].
- [20] A.A. Starobinsky, A New Type of Isotropic Cosmological Models Without Singularity, Phys. Lett. B 91 (1980) 99 [INSPIRE].
- [21] A.H. Guth, The Inflationary Universe: A Possible Solution to the Horizon and Flatness Problems, Phys. Rev. D 23 (1981) 347 [INSPIRE].
- [22] A.D. Linde, A New Inflationary Universe Scenario: A Possible Solution of the Horizon, Flatness, Homogeneity, Isotropy and Primordial Monopole Problems, Phys. Lett. B 108 (1982) 389 [INSPIRE].
- [23] A. Albrecht and P.J. Steinhardt, Cosmology for Grand Unified Theories with Radiatively Induced Symmetry Breaking, Phys. Rev. Lett. 48 (1982) 1220 [INSPIRE].
- [24] A.D. Linde, Chaotic Inflation, Phys. Lett. B 129 (1983) 177 [INSPIRE].
- [25] D. Baumann, Inflation, in the proceedings of the Theoretical Advanced Study Institute in Elementary Particle Physics: Physics of the Large and the Small, (2011), p. 523-686
 [D0I:10.1142/9789814327183_0010] [arXiv:0907.5424] [INSPIRE].
- [26] V.F. Mukhanov and G.V. Chibisov, Quantum Fluctuations and a Nonsingular Universe, JETP Lett. 33 (1981) 532 [INSPIRE].
- [27] A.H. Guth and S.Y. Pi, Fluctuations in the New Inflationary Universe, Phys. Rev. Lett. 49 (1982) 1110 [INSPIRE].
- [28] A.A. Starobinsky, Dynamics of Phase Transition in the New Inflationary Universe Scenario and Generation of Perturbations, Phys. Lett. B 117 (1982) 175 [INSPIRE].
- [29] S.W. Hawking, The Development of Irregularities in a Single Bubble Inflationary Universe, Phys. Lett. B 115 (1982) 295 [INSPIRE].
- [30] V.F. Mukhanov, H.A. Feldman and R.H. Brandenberger, Theory of cosmological perturbations. Part 1. Classical perturbations. Part 2. Quantum theory of perturbations. Part 3. Extensions, Phys. Rept. 215 (1992) 203 [INSPIRE].
- [31] D. Baumann, Primordial Cosmology, PoS TASI2017 (2018) 009 [arXiv:1807.03098]
 [INSPIRE].
- [32] PLANCK collaboration, Planck 2018 results. I. Overview and the cosmological legacy of Planck, Astron. Astrophys. 641 (2020) A1 [arXiv:1807.06205] [INSPIRE].
- [33] PLANCK collaboration, Planck 2018 results. VI. Cosmological parameters, Astron. Astrophys.
 641 (2020) A6 [Erratum ibid. 652 (2021) C4] [arXiv:1807.06209] [INSPIRE].
- [34] M. Tegmark, What does inflation really predict?, JCAP 04 (2005) 001 [astro-ph/0410281]
 [INSPIRE].
- [35] PLANCK collaboration, Planck 2018 results. X. Constraints on inflation, Astron. Astrophys. 641 (2020) A10 [arXiv:1807.06211] [INSPIRE].

- [36] BICEP and KECK collaborations, Improved Constraints on Primordial Gravitational Waves using Planck, WMAP, and BICEP/Keck Observations through the 2018 Observing Season, Phys. Rev. Lett. 127 (2021) 151301 [arXiv:2110.00483] [INSPIRE].
- [37] G. Ferrante, G. Franciolini, J.A. Iovino and A. Urbano, Primordial non-Gaussianity up to all orders: Theoretical aspects and implications for primordial black hole models, Phys. Rev. D 107 (2023) 043520 [arXiv:2211.01728] [INSPIRE].
- [38] A.D. Gow et al., Non-perturbative non-Gaussianity and primordial black holes, EPL 142 (2023) 49001 [arXiv:2211.08348] [INSPIRE].
- [39] A. Escrivà, F. Kuhnel and Y. Tada, Primordial Black Holes, arXiv:2211.05767 [INSPIRE].
- [40] V. De Luca and A. Riotto, A note on the abundance of primordial black holes: Use and misuse of the metric curvature perturbation, Phys. Lett. B 828 (2022) 137035 [arXiv:2201.09008]
 [INSPIRE].
- [41] M. Biagetti et al., The formation probability of primordial black holes, Phys. Lett. B 820 (2021) 136602 [arXiv:2105.07810] [INSPIRE].
- [42] A.A. Starobinsky, Stochastic de sitter (inflationary) stage in the early universe, Lect. Notes Phys. 246 (1986) 107 [INSPIRE].
- [43] D.S. Salopek and J.R. Bond, Nonlinear evolution of long wavelength metric fluctuations in inflationary models, *Phys. Rev. D* **42** (1990) 3936 [INSPIRE].
- [44] D.S. Salopek and J.R. Bond, Stochastic inflation and nonlinear gravity, Phys. Rev. D 43 (1991) 1005 [INSPIRE].
- [45] A.A. Starobinsky and J. Yokoyama, Equilibrium state of a selfinteracting scalar field in the De Sitter background, Phys. Rev. D 50 (1994) 6357 [astro-ph/9407016] [INSPIRE].
- [46] T. Fujita, M. Kawasaki, Y. Tada and T. Takesako, A new algorithm for calculating the curvature perturbations in stochastic inflation, JCAP 12 (2013) 036 [arXiv:1308.4754] [INSPIRE].
- [47] T. Fujita, M. Kawasaki and Y. Tada, Non-perturbative approach for curvature perturbations in stochastic δN formalism, JCAP 10 (2014) 030 [arXiv:1405.2187] [INSPIRE].
- [48] V. Vennin and A.A. Starobinsky, Correlation Functions in Stochastic Inflation, Eur. Phys. J. C 75 (2015) 413 [arXiv:1506.04732] [INSPIRE].
- [49] M. Celoria, P. Creminelli, G. Tambalo and V. Yingcharoenrat, Beyond perturbation theory in inflation, JCAP 06 (2021) 051 [arXiv:2103.09244] [INSPIRE].
- [50] T. Cohen, D. Green and A. Premkumar, Large deviations in the early Universe, Phys. Rev. D 107 (2023) 083501 [arXiv:2212.02535] [INSPIRE].
- [51] S. Hooshangi, M.H. Namjoo and M. Noorbala, Rare events are nonperturbative: Primordial black holes from heavy-tailed distributions, Phys. Lett. B 834 (2022) 137400
 [arXiv:2112.04520] [INSPIRE].
- [52] A. Achucarro, S. Cespedes, A.-C. Davis and G.A. Palma, The hand-made tail: non-perturbative tails from multifield inflation, JHEP 05 (2022) 052 [arXiv:2112.14712] [INSPIRE].
- [53] Y.-F. Cai et al., One small step for an inflaton, one giant leap for inflation: A novel non-Gaussian tail and primordial black holes, Phys. Lett. B 834 (2022) 137461 [arXiv:2112.13836] [INSPIRE].
- [54] J.M. Ezquiaga, J. García-Bellido and V. Vennin, Massive Galaxy Clusters Like El Gordo Hint at Primordial Quantum Diffusion, Phys. Rev. Lett. 130 (2023) 121003 [arXiv:2207.06317]
 [INSPIRE].
- [55] Y.-F. Cai et al., Highly non-Gaussian tails and primordial black holes from single-field inflation, JCAP 12 (2022) 034 [arXiv:2207.11910] [INSPIRE].

- [56] C. Pattison, V. Vennin, H. Assadullahi and D. Wands, Quantum diffusion during inflation and primordial black holes, JCAP 10 (2017) 046 [arXiv:1707.00537] [INSPIRE].
- [57] J.M. Ezquiaga and J. García-Bellido, Quantum diffusion beyond slow-roll: implications for primordial black-hole production, JCAP 08 (2018) 018 [arXiv:1805.06731] [INSPIRE].
- [58] M. Biagetti, G. Franciolini, A. Kehagias and A. Riotto, Primordial Black Holes from Inflation and Quantum Diffusion, JCAP 07 (2018) 032 [arXiv:1804.07124] [INSPIRE].
- [59] J.M. Ezquiaga, J. García-Bellido and V. Vennin, The exponential tail of inflationary fluctuations: consequences for primordial black holes, JCAP 03 (2020) 029 [arXiv:1912.05399] [INSPIRE].
- [60] H. Firouzjahi, A. Nassiri-Rad and M. Noorbala, Stochastic Ultra Slow Roll Inflation, JCAP 01 (2019) 040 [arXiv:1811.02175] [INSPIRE].
- [61] C. Pattison, V. Vennin, H. Assadullahi and D. Wands, Stochastic inflation beyond slow roll, JCAP 07 (2019) 031 [arXiv:1905.06300] [INSPIRE].
- [62] G. Ballesteros, J. Rey, M. Taoso and A. Urbano, Stochastic inflationary dynamics beyond slow-roll and consequences for primordial black hole formation, JCAP 08 (2020) 043 [arXiv:2006.14597] [INSPIRE].
- [63] V. Vennin, Stochastic inflation and primordial black holes, Ph.D. Thesis, U. Paris-Saclay (2020) [arXiv:2009.08715] [INSPIRE].
- [64] K. Ando and V. Vennin, Power spectrum in stochastic inflation, JCAP 04 (2021) 057 [arXiv:2012.02031] [INSPIRE].
- [65] A. De and R. Mahbub, Numerically modeling stochastic inflation in slow-roll and beyond, Phys. Rev. D 102 (2020) 123509 [arXiv:2010.12685] [INSPIRE].
- [66] D.G. Figueroa, S. Raatikainen, S. Rasanen and E. Tomberg, Non-Gaussian Tail of the Curvature Perturbation in Stochastic Ultraslow-Roll Inflation: Implications for Primordial Black Hole Production, Phys. Rev. Lett. 127 (2021) 101302 [arXiv:2012.06551] [INSPIRE].
- [67] D. Cruces and C. Germani, Stochastic inflation at all order in slow-roll parameters: Foundations, Phys. Rev. D 105 (2022) 023533 [arXiv:2107.12735] [INSPIRE].
- [68] G. Rigopoulos and A. Wilkins, Inflation is always semi-classical: diffusion domination overproduces Primordial Black Holes, JCAP 12 (2021) 027 [arXiv:2107.05317] [INSPIRE].
- [69] C. Pattison, V. Vennin, D. Wands and H. Assadullahi, Ultra-slow-roll inflation with quantum diffusion, JCAP 04 (2021) 080 [arXiv:2101.05741] [INSPIRE].
- [70] E. Tomberg, A numerical approach to stochastic inflation and primordial black holes, J. Phys. Conf. Ser. 2156 (2021) 012010 [arXiv:2110.10684] [INSPIRE].
- [71] D.G. Figueroa, S. Raatikainen, S. Rasanen and E. Tomberg, Implications of stochastic effects for primordial black hole production in ultra-slow-roll inflation, JCAP 05 (2022) 027 [arXiv:2111.07437] [INSPIRE].
- [72] Y. Tada and V. Vennin, Statistics of coarse-grained cosmological fields in stochastic inflation, JCAP 02 (2022) 021 [arXiv:2111.15280] [INSPIRE].
- [73] R. Mahbub and A. De, Smooth coarse-graining and colored noise dynamics in stochastic inflation, JCAP 09 (2022) 045 [arXiv:2204.03859] [INSPIRE].
- [74] J.H.P. Jackson et al., Numerical simulations of stochastic inflation using importance sampling, JCAP 10 (2022) 067 [arXiv:2206.11234] [INSPIRE].
- [75] A.A. Starobinsky, Multicomponent de Sitter (Inflationary) Stages and the Generation of Perturbations, JETP Lett. 42 (1985) 152 [INSPIRE].

- [76] M. Sasaki and E.D. Stewart, A General analytic formula for the spectral index of the density perturbations produced during inflation, Prog. Theor. Phys. 95 (1996) 71 [astro-ph/9507001] [INSPIRE].
- [77] D.H. Lyth, K.A. Malik and M. Sasaki, A General proof of the conservation of the curvature perturbation, JCAP 05 (2005) 004 [astro-ph/0411220] [INSPIRE].
- [78] D. Wands, K.A. Malik, D.H. Lyth and A.R. Liddle, A New approach to the evolution of cosmological perturbations on large scales, Phys. Rev. D 62 (2000) 043527 [astro-ph/0003278]
 [INSPIRE].
- [79] D.H. Lyth and Y. Rodriguez, The Inflationary prediction for primordial non-Gaussianity, Phys. Rev. Lett. 95 (2005) 121302 [astro-ph/0504045] [INSPIRE].
- [80] J. Grain and V. Vennin, Stochastic inflation in phase space: Is slow roll a stochastic attractor?, JCAP 05 (2017) 045 [arXiv:1703.00447] [INSPIRE].
- [81] S.S. Mishra, E.J. Copeland and A.M. Green, *Primordial black holes and stochastic inflation beyond slow-roll: II solutions of the adjoint Fokker-Planck equation*, in preparation.
- [82] A.R. Liddle and S.M. Leach, How long before the end of inflation were observable perturbations produced?, Phys. Rev. D 68 (2003) 103503 [astro-ph/0305263] [INSPIRE].
- [83] H. Motohashi and W. Hu, Primordial Black Holes and Slow-Roll Violation, Phys. Rev. D 96 (2017) 063503 [arXiv:1706.06784] [INSPIRE].
- [84] N.C. Tsamis and R.P. Woodard, Improved estimates of cosmological perturbations, Phys. Rev. D 69 (2004) 084005 [astro-ph/0307463] [INSPIRE].
- [85] W.H. Kinney, Horizon crossing and inflation with large eta, Phys. Rev. D 72 (2005) 023515 [gr-qc/0503017] [INSPIRE].
- [86] C.T. Byrnes, P.S. Cole and S.P. Patil, Steepest growth of the power spectrum and primordial black holes, JCAP 06 (2019) 028 [arXiv:1811.11158] [INSPIRE].
- [87] A. Karam et al., Anatomy of single-field inflationary models for primordial black holes, JCAP 03 (2023) 013 [arXiv:2205.13540] [INSPIRE].
- [88] S. Winitzki and A. Vilenkin, Effective noise in stochastic description of inflation, Phys. Rev. D 61 (2000) 084008 [gr-qc/9911029] [INSPIRE].
- [89] J.O. Andersen, M. Eriksson and A. Tranberg, Stochastic inflation from quantum field theory and the parametric dependence of the effective noise amplitude, JHEP 02 (2022) 121 [arXiv:2111.14503] [INSPIRE].
- [90] D. Polarski and A.A. Starobinsky, Semiclassicality and decoherence of cosmological perturbations, Class. Quant. Grav. 13 (1996) 377 [gr-qc/9504030] [INSPIRE].
- [91] C. Kiefer, D. Polarski and A.A. Starobinsky, Quantum to classical transition for fluctuations in the early universe, Int. J. Mod. Phys. D 7 (1998) 455 [gr-qc/9802003] [INSPIRE].
- [92] C. Kiefer and D. Polarski, Why do cosmological perturbations look classical to us?, Adv. Sci. Lett. 2 (2009) 164 [arXiv:0810.0087] [INSPIRE].
- [93] C.W. Gardiner, Handbook of Stochastic Methods for Physics, Chemistry and the Natural Sciences, Springer (2004).
- [94] L. Evans, Introduction to Stochastic Differential Equations, American Mathematical Society (2013).
- [95] P. Creminelli et al., The Phase Transition to Slow-roll Eternal Inflation, JHEP 09 (2008) 036 [arXiv:0802.1067] [INSPIRE].
- [96] T. Rudelius, Conditions for (No) Eternal Inflation, JCAP 08 (2019) 009 [arXiv:1905.05198] [INSPIRE].

- [97] N. Ahmadi et al., Quantum diffusion in sharp transition to non-slow-roll phase, JCAP 08 (2022) 078 [arXiv:2207.10578] [INSPIRE].
- [98] T.S. Bunch and P.C.W. Davies, Quantum Field Theory in de Sitter Space: Renormalization by Point Splitting, Proc. Roy. Soc. Lond. A 360 (1978) 117 [INSPIRE].
- [99] S. Kachru, R. Kallosh, A.D. Linde and S.P. Trivedi, De Sitter vacua in string theory, Phys. Rev. D 68 (2003) 046005 [hep-th/0301240] [INSPIRE].
- [100] S. Kachru et al., Towards inflation in string theory, JCAP 10 (2003) 013 [hep-th/0308055]
 [INSPIRE].
- [101] R. Kallosh and A. Linde, CMB targets after the latest Planck data release, Phys. Rev. D 100 (2019) 123523 [arXiv:1909.04687] [INSPIRE].
- [102] J. Martin, C. Ringeval and V. Vennin, Encyclopædia Inflationaris, Phys. Dark Univ. 5-6 (2014) 75 [arXiv:1303.3787] [INSPIRE].
- [103] S.S. Mishra and V. Sahni, Canonical and Non-canonical Inflation in the light of the recent BICEP/Keck results, arXiv:2202.03467 [INSPIRE].
- [104] S.S. Bhatt, S.S. Mishra, S. Basak and S.N. Sahoo, Numerical simulations of inflationary dynamics: slow-roll and beyond, arXiv:2212.00529 [INSPIRE].
- [105] H. Motohashi, A.A. Starobinsky and J. Yokoyama, Inflation with a constant rate of roll, JCAP
 09 (2015) 018 [arXiv:1411.5021] [INSPIRE].
- [106] S.S. Mishra and V. Sahni, Primordial Black Holes from a tiny bump/dip in the Inflaton potential, JCAP 04 (2020) 007 [arXiv:1911.00057] [INSPIRE].
- [107] D. Wands, Duality invariance of cosmological perturbation spectra, Phys. Rev. D 60 (1999) 023507 [gr-qc/9809062] [INSPIRE].
- [108] N. Deruelle and V.F. Mukhanov, On matching conditions for cosmological perturbations, Phys. Rev. D 52 (1995) 5549 [gr-qc/9503050] [INSPIRE].
- [109] A.A. Starobinsky, Spectrum of adiabatic perturbations in the universe when there are singularities in the inflation potential, JETP Lett. 55 (1992) 489 [INSPIRE].
- [110] M. Joy, V. Sahni and A.A. Starobinsky, A New Universal Local Feature in the Inflationary Perturbation Spectrum, Phys. Rev. D 77 (2008) 023514 [arXiv:0711.1585] [INSPIRE].
- [111] D.K. Hazra, A. Shafieloo, G.F. Smoot and A.A. Starobinsky, Wiggly Whipped Inflation, JCAP 08 (2014) 048 [arXiv:1405.2012] [INSPIRE].
- [112] D.K. Hazra et al., Inflation story: slow-roll and beyond, JCAP 12 (2021) 038 [arXiv:2107.09460] [INSPIRE].
- [113] E. Tomberg, Numerical stochastic inflation constrained by frozen noise, JCAP 04 (2023) 042 [arXiv:2210.17441] [INSPIRE].
- [114] E. Tomberg, Stochastic constant-roll inflation and primordial black holes, Phys. Rev. D 108 (2023) 043502 [arXiv:2304.10903] [INSPIRE].
- [115] W.H. Press and P. Schechter, Formation of galaxies and clusters of galaxies by selfsimilar gravitational condensation, Astrophys. J. 187 (1974) 425 [INSPIRE].
- [116] C. Germani and I. Musco, Abundance of Primordial Black Holes Depends on the Shape of the Inflationary Power Spectrum, Phys. Rev. Lett. 122 (2019) 141302 [arXiv:1805.04087]
 [INSPIRE].
- [117] J. Kristiano and J. Yokoyama, Ruling Out Primordial Black Hole Formation From Single-Field Inflation, arXiv:2211.03395 [INSPIRE].

- [118] K. Inomata, M. Braglia, X. Chen and S. Renaux-Petel, Questions on calculation of primordial power spectrum with large spikes: the resonance model case, JCAP 04 (2023) 011 [arXiv:2211.02586] [INSPIRE].
- [119] S. Choudhury, M.R. Gangopadhyay and M. Sami, No-go for the formation of heavy mass Primordial Black Holes in Single Field Inflation, arXiv:2301.10000 [INSPIRE].
- [120] S. Choudhury, S. Panda and M. Sami, PBH formation in EFT of single field inflation with sharp transition, arXiv:2302.05655 [INSPIRE].
- [121] J. Kristiano and J. Yokoyama, Response to criticism on "Ruling Out Primordial Black Hole Formation From Single-Field Inflation": A note on bispectrum and one-loop correction in single-field inflation with primordial black hole formation, arXiv:2303.00341 [INSPIRE].
- [122] A. Riotto, The Primordial Black Hole Formation from Single-Field Inflation is Still Not Ruled Out, arXiv:2303.01727 [INSPIRE].
- [123] A. Riotto, The Primordial Black Hole Formation from Single-Field Inflation is Not Ruled Out, arXiv:2301.00599 [INSPIRE].
- [124] H. Firouzjahi, One-loop Corrections in Power Spectrum in Single Field Inflation, arXiv:2303.12025 [INSPIRE].
- [125] J.M. Maldacena, Non-Gaussian features of primordial fluctuations in single field inflationary models, JHEP 05 (2003) 013 [astro-ph/0210603] [INSPIRE].
- [126] B.I. Schneider, B.R. Miller and B.V. Saunders, NIST Digital Library of Mathematical Functions: A 21st Century Source of Information on the Special Functions of Mathematical Physics, Phys. Today 71 (2018) 48.
- [127] N.D. Birrell and P.C.W. Davies, Quantum Fields in Curved Space, Cambridge University Press (1984) [D0I:10.1017/CB09780511622632] [INSPIRE].